Editorial:

A REPORT THAT CAN’T BE IGNORED

The earthquake of October 2005 provided first time an opportunity to the activists of JKCCS to visit the restricted areas of Uri, where non-locals are not allowed to enter without the permission of District Magistrate Baramulla. During relief and rehabilitation programme the activist while interacting with locals came to know that there are innumerable unidentified graves located at different villages of Uri and Baramulla Tehsils. These bodies were claimed as 'militants' by the security forces and had been buried in these graveyards with the help of the locals. The idea was picked up by JKCCS. One volunteer of APDP and a resident of Bonyar, whose father was subjected to enforce disappearance in 1990 agreed to gather information about these graveyards. While as, the other NGO and INGO's were busy in providing relief to the earthquake victims and even JKCCS also had constituted project Athrot and provide relief. But, emphasis was also given by the activists of JKCCS in the enquiry and documentation of these unidentified graveyards.  


With brief intervals the JKCCS/APDP activists' team visited the eighteen inaccessible villages of Uri and Baramulla Tehsil. At Chehal Bimyar where 203 unidentified graves are sited, JKCCS met the Atta Mohammed the care taker of Chehal Bimyar grave yard who claimed to have buried more than 200 dead bodies and stated that the majority of dead bodies buried by them were seemed local Kashmiris and not the foreigners as claimed by the security forces. He also disclosed out of 203 dead bodies, 20 have been exhumed and identified as locals.  It was also revealed by another caretaker Muhammad Yousuf Malik from Kichma and said that dead bodies brought by security forces were local Kashmiris. Army ordered them to bury dead bodies without asking any question. Like Atta Muhammad, Malik has also mentioned about the exhumation of bodies from Kichama graveyard and identified as local Kashmiris. 


  Along with detailed information about these graveyards it was also decided by activists and members to take photographs of these unidentified graves, which can land credibility to the report. However taking photographs of these unidentified graves publicly was not an easy task. The activists do not enjoy the privileges of journalists; even journalists while visiting these areas have to seek permission from the army head quarters 15 CRPS Srinagar.


Sending volunteers to far-flung areas like Lachipora, Bijhama, Dashewara and Mayan, which are situated at the periphery of LoC was gigantic and risky task. The non locals are seen there with suspicion, not only speaking about the security forces but even by the locals.


It was then decided to choose local people of these particular areas, especially women activist from APDP. They were thoroughly trained and were sending in these areas in pretext to visit their relatives or to holy shrines located in these areas. These activists were also trained how to minimize the risk while gathering information from the concerned people without raising any suspicion in their minds. They were also taught how to click photographs with still cameras, as highly sophisticated cameras were difficult for organization to manage and risky for the volunteers to operate. At many graveyards, activists were not succeeded in taking photographs because of their position in highly sensitive areas and partly the presence of army camps near these graveyards. But they did a commendable job and their commitment and convection was behind it.


After the information and photographs were gathered, the next step was to collect the official records from the police station, and if in police stations records was not available then from the Chief Judicial Magistrate, Baramulla. Official records like First Hand Reports filed by police during in all past twenty years was necessary to authenticate the causes and reason behind the claim of the dead bodies buried in these unidentified graves. Unfortunately due to different reasons the official documents weren't be arranged. Finally the report was published without these official records, under the title 'Facts under the Ground'.


 On 28 of March 2008 the report was released by APDP in its monthly meeting at a conference hall of a local hotel. Around 154 photographs of 940 - 1000 unidentified graves were displayed before media along with detailed information.


The report of the unidentified graves was taken very seriously by the local and international media. However in Indian mainstream media only two newspapers carried the news, which was not shocking. Earlier JKCCS has released many reports like 'State of Human Rights in Jammu and Kashmir', Dead But Not Forgotten' 'Missing in Action' etc.    However these reports did not get expected response, what the report Facts Under the Ground' received, even government could not find ways to ignore it. These unidentified graves are the living testimony buried permanently in these eighteen graveyards and we are convinced that the issue wills flare up in future. 


Keeping in view the unidentified mass graves as human issue in many countries including Chile, Serbia, and Indian state like Punjab where 2097 victims after their disappearance were subjected to custodial deaths and fake encounters in Amritsar district alone and remaining 16 districts were not investigated. The report 'Facts under the Ground' in which 940-1000 graves have been documented in about eighteen villages' i.e. three Tehsils i.e.  Boniyar, Uri and Baramulla has provided rough estimate of such facts buried under grounds in whole valley of Kashmir. It is just the tip of the iceberg and is likely to get international attention. Since it a human issue, we believe the report 'Facts under the Ground' and appeal of APDP members would not go unnoticed by the International community. They have to take the serious note and should conduct an independent probe in all these unidentified graves of Kashmir as they have taken in other conflict areas.

APDP RELEASES “FACTS UNDER GROUND”
A REPORT ON NAMELESS AND MASS GRAVES IN URI AREA  
On 28th March 2008 Association of Parents of Disappeared Persons (APDP) publicized a report under the title ‘Facts under Ground’ that stated around 940 unmarked graves are sited in frontier areas of Barahmulla districts and urged international agencies to help them in identifying the dead ones.

The report was released by Jana Begum, Gulshan Begum, Tahira Begum and Ghulam Nabi members of APDP (Association of Parents of Disappeared Persons). The relatives of disappeared persons feared that the people who went disappear after they were picked up by security agencies might be buried in those unidentified graves located in Zandfaraan, Kichhama, Chehal, Bimyar, Trikanjan, Parro, Gingal, Bijhama, Lachipora, Mayan, Charkote, and Hatlonga. These areas are located near to line of control and sought special permission from the district magistrate and other army headquarters for visiting such areas. Clandestinely members of APDP went to these areas and discovered hundreds of unidentified graves.  

"We have found 940-1,000 nameless graves and we fear there might be many more. Police and army personal are claiming that these bodies are those of foreign militants who were killed while crossing the Line of Control and other fake encounters," said Parvez Imroz, a prominent human rights activist and patron of APDP.

 While quoting a caretaker namely Atta Mohammad Khan, of a graveyard at Bimyar village Parvaiz Imroz said that Atta Muhammad had told APDP that only six out of 203 graves there had names on them. He said that 235 unidentified bodies were found in two graveyards at Kichama village, while 200 were buried in Bijhama village. All are unidentified and nameless. 

The report stated most of these graveyards according to the local community were constituted by the inhabitants of these villages on the orders of Jammu and Kashmir police. The total number of such graves according to our survey in three tehsils of the frontier district Baramulla of J&K comes to 940 or nearly 1000. The Armed forces and Jammu and Kashmir police claims that the slain persons buried in such cemeteries were unidentified foreign militants killed in the border areas while infiltrating across the line of control. Whereas many locals claimed threat most of the persons buried in such graves are local Kashmiris. 

Imroz said that the fact-finding team of APDP visited in all these and conducted investigations in secret. "It offers us some hope that the disappeared persons might be buried in these graves”, said parvaiz Imroz adding that more than 8,000 people may have disappeared in the state since 1990. The state has on various occasions put the number of missing between 60 and 3,941.

The report stated since 1989-90 when Kashmir conflict flared up an estimated 8-10,000 persons have become victims of enforced Disappearances.” Nearly two hundred thousand relatives of disappeared persons have been putting untiring efforts to ascertain the whereabouts of missing people. The state and central government claim that most of the persons have crossed over to other part of Kashmir (Pakistan administrated Kashmir) to seek arms training. However, the families of the missing as well as the APDP have contested the claim. Successive state governments of J&K have been making contradictory statements regarding the number of missing persons in the state.    

This report was an attempt to share the findings of relatives of disappeared persons. The eighteen years old conflict has excised more than 70 thousand people. Beside that there is the worst number of custodial killings, torture, massacres, rapes, molestations they are some of the shocking results of the violent campaign of state terrorism carried by these occupation forces. 

While showing the PowerPoint presentation of photographs taken of these unidentified grave yards, APDP believed there is mystery surrounding the fate of eight to ten thousand people who have been subjected to enforced or involuntary disappearances since 1990. “We don’t have any clinching evidences, we believe that the some of the answers could perhaps lie buried in the unidentified graves strewn across Jammu & Kashmir,” says APDP spokesman Ghulam Nabi.     

However in the light of evidences used in the survey report, ‘certain issues stand out starkly believed APDP members. “Foremost among them is to identify these so called nameless graves and mass graves. Who were they? Is there any way to identify them? How did they die? These are normal queries encountering unidentified nameless graves. Apart from this there are other pressing concerns which guided our survey” says APDP spokes man.

“Though the phenomena of unidentified graves has surfaced, it offers us some hope that the disappeared might be buried in these unnamed graves”, added the spokesman. In view of the callous indifference displayed by the government of India and the government of Jammu and Kashmir on this matter of concern APDP called international fore EAAF(Argentine forensic anthropology) and ICMP (International Commission on Missing Persons) for help. “They have the necessary skills and expertise to carry out a scientific excavation and establish the truth or otherwise of the claim being made by us (APDP) who have right to know what happened to their near and dear ones, we therefore request EAAF and ICMP to consider our request to take up this investigation”, added spokesman.          

Two days after the report was announced the army, according to AFP rejected claims that the graves contained bodies of anyone besides rebels. “Those who have been buried in these villages were killed in well established encounters over the past two decades,” it quoted army spokesman Anil Kumar Mathur as saying.” Some were killed along the Line of Control and their bodies brought to these villages as they are closer to the border,” he said.

MAN FOUND DEAD AFTER DISAPPEARANCE

On March 27, A family received a great shock after they came to know about recovery of the dead body of their missing son, Farooq Ahmad Sheikh, 32, son Ghulam Qadir Sheikh resident of Seelu Sopore. Farooq had gone missing on March 9 from his orchards at Nowpora, Sopore. According to police Farooq was gambling with some persons in the orchards when police raided the spot he fled from the scene and dived into the canal, which resulted into his death. However, the family contested the police version and stated that Farooq seldom played cards. He was caught by police instead of gamblers then beaten to death and thrown into the canal. Police lodged an FIR regarding the incident but are dormant in investigating the matter. 


Farooq’s killing after his disappearance caused strong resentment in the whole Sopore area. Since the day of his disappearance people, particularly residents of the Seelu area strongly protested against his disappearance and held strong demonstrations against the police. Lastly the agitation ended after the recovery of his dead body.

Shortly after the recovery of Farooq’s dead body the reporter of The Informative Missive visited the area and talked to the victim family regarding the incidents.


Ghulam Qadir Sheikh, father of the deceased stated, “On March 9 my alone son Farooq left to Bohripora Sopore Kupwara road to visit his Petrol Pump, after talking to workers there, he visited his orchards at Nowpora, Sopore because we had sprinkled pesticides in the orchard a day before. He was in his orchards meanwhile police had raided another nearby orchard where some gamblers were playing cards. On seeing police the gamblers ran away. While chasing gamblers police had caught my son and charged him for playing cards. He had pleaded them for not being a gambler but they had not listened to him. They started to beat him ruthlessly. He was first kicked on the private parts of his body and then beaten by gun butts. A woman from across the Pohru stream from Reban village was watching my son being beaten by the police cops. The woman was sowing potato seeds in her garden. While seeing Farooq beaten callously, the woman had yelled over the police that why they are beating him? Police had turned deaf ear to her cries and kept on reiterating let him die. Lastly she had seen my son falling on the ground and subsequently he was taken out of her sight.”

                He added, “The police had parked their vehicle at Shergund, Nowpora link road and went to the orchards in civvies, which is unlawful according to the police norms.  I myself found the vehicle at Shergund with a Sickh driver in it. According to the locals of the Nowpora, the driver had received a phone call, after which he drove fast towards the orchards and returned back quick after some time along with cops who were on the raid. This made us cynical that police after wounding him might have taken him into their custody or might have thrown him into the Pohru canal.”

He further said, “We were unaware about the happening. When Farooq did not return in the evening, I contacted his friends and all our relatives but nothing traced out. Next day in the morning I along with my   other family members approached Police Station, Sopore.  I told them that my son did not return home from yester afternoon. Police asked me about his particulars and dress he had worn. After giving details they further demanded an application mention my son disappearance. When I submitted application they refused to accept it by saying some stamp tickets are required. Then I brought the tickets from the Tehsil office and submitted that with tickets affixed. They again refused to accept it with a lame excuse of getting new application assigned by Tehsil officer. I brought the new application from Tehsil office and then to annoy me further they ordered me to bring 15 white pages, then file cover and lastly the tag for file cover. They got me in and out hundred times on trivial pretexts. This was just to irritate me, so that I might retract from filing the case. Eventually police took my signatures on a plain paper and told me to come after one hour until they would get the report filed.”


The family had searched Farooq in all the nearby army, SoG and other paramilitary camps but found nothing. Next day to Farooq’s disappearance the family came to know about the incident of the raid. After which they approached Nowpora and talked to the locals about the incident. According to the locals the police raided the area during day but through the night they again came to area. The reasons of which were not ascertained.

                 “I think that police after severe beating might have arrested my son during the day. Then would have revisited Nowpora during the night just to throw him in Pohru stream after torturing him to death in custody”, alleged Ghulam Qadir. 


When nothing divulged out about him for few days, it sparked off strong protests in the whole Seelu area. The protesters held sit-ins, blocked vehicular movement on Sopore- Kupwara highway. They threatened to continue the agitation until Farooq’s whereabouts are disclosed. On March 12 due to the apprehension of law and order problem police held an impromptu meeting at Dak Banglow Barmamulla. SSP (Senior Superintendent of Police) Anand Jain headed the meeting along with SP Junaid and around 20 - 25 influential persons from Seelu village attended the meeting.


Ghulam Qadir further added, “Till March police did not confess that they conducted a raid in the Nowpora Orchards but in the meeting SSP acknowledge the raid. He told us to end the protests and assured us for an investigation into the matter. He promise us that the guilty will be punished. Initially the SSP told that my son was gambling and when police raided, he fled from the spot and dived into the stream. We questioned him if he dived into the canal in front of police why didn’t they save him. The SSP put his head down and apologized for not saving my son. SSP’s another ploy was rescuing of two gamblers from the canal, which is totally groundless because no one had dived into the river. This was just to portray my son as a gambler and falsify that he plunged into canal. The SSP wanted to hush up the matter by using different pretences. On the same day a shoe was picked up from the Jehlum River, which we identified on March 14. We told police to take that for investigation but they refused. Then after a week, Sub inspector (SI) Zaffar from police station, Sopore visited our house in the night at around 10:30pm and took the shoe along with him. On March 15 SI, Zaffar during protests assured agitators that 98% of the investigation proved that Farooq is alive. I could not understand, on which grounds police officer assured for his life. This made us to think, he might have been killed after March 15.” 

“During his disappearance police made another accusation that my has gone to Bangalore, which was just to sidetrack us from pursuing the case. Even we met MLA (Member of Legislative Assembly) Mohammad Dilawar Mir. He after contacting SSP Baramulla was told that my son has gone to Bangalore and would be traced out but nothing favored to locate him. Finally on March 27 we went to Srinagar and held a sit in at press enclave. Beside this we also met former Chief Minister Mufti Mohammad Syeed for seeking his intervention into the matter. But eventually our efforts ended with the recovery of Farooq’s dead body. His dead body was recovered from Jehlum River in Sheeri Baramulla. The time he went missing he was wearing Sleeveless sports sweater, Shirt, Jacket and Pheran (Traditional dress) but at the time of recovery of the dead body the Jacket and Pheran were missing and there were also water nuts clinched on all over his clothes. He was also carrying a wallet containing rupees 22730; PAN card, Identity card and driving license. Out of all these things only his identity card and rupees 3000 wrapped in the right sleeve cuff were found from him. Remaining all his belongings might have been concealed to cover up his murder.” Narrated slain Farooq’s father. 

He further argued, “There are no water nuts in the Pohru stream or Jehlum River. The clenching of water nuts on my sons dead body pointed up that his dead body might have been dumped anywhere in the vicinity of Wullar Lake. Keeping rupees 3000 in his sleeve cuff to show off him as a gambler. One thing remained uncertain and doubtful why his Pheran and Jacket had been removed before throwing him into the canal. His dead body seemed fresh as if he had submerged only a week ago whenever he had got disappear 17 days before. All the clues so far disclosed that he has been murdered in an organized way. He was my alone hope and I had married him in early age. He left two minor children, Umar 6 and Shoaib 8, now who will patronize and take care of his minors and his wife Mudasir. The cruel police cops have ruined their life. I had two sons Farooq and Aabid Aalam and both of them were killed by the ruthless security agencies. My younger son was killed in a fake encounter in the year 1995 when he had gone to Baramulla for his matric results and now my elder son was killed. Now there is no more hope for me to live any more. I want the guilty to be brought to justice and punish them rigorously.”

MISSING FOUND DEAD FROM RIVER

FAMILY SUSPECTS TORTURE
Mohammad Ashraf Bafanda, 25, a tailor by profession, son of Late Ghulam Ahmad resident of Boatman Colony, Bemina went missing on March 18, after he left for Hazratbal Shrine. After nine days his bruised dead body was recovered on March 27 from Jehlum River at Kreshebal, Safakadal.The injured dead body made Bafanda family doubtful that Ashraf first might have been beaten to death and then thrown into Jehlum River. The family wants the matter to be probed.

Shortly after the recovery of the dead body, the reporter of The Informative Missive visited the victim family and talked to them regarding the incident. 

Nisar Ahmad Bafanda, younger brother of the deceased stated, “On the momentous day of March 18 at around 11:30am Ashraf after putting on clothes left for offering prayers at Hazratbal Shrine. Before leaving to Hazratbal, he went to his tailor master’s shop, where he was working as a tailor and got rupees 20 from him. He often used to go Hazratbal for offering Friday prayers, but this visit resulted in his last visit. He had forgotten his identity card at house while changing his clothes. When he did not return in the evening, we got worried and started to enquire from his friends about him but none of them had any knowledge. Even we searched him at all our relatives’ houses but nothing came out.”

He added, “On March 9, we approached police post Bemina and filed a missing report. Then around 60 of our relative went out to search him. There were many rumors about his whereabouts. First one of his friends told that he was seen at Safakadal at around 3: 30pm on the same day, we went to Safakadal and ascertained from the shopkeepers but nothing divulged out. We approached all the media organization both local as well as national and highlighted, Ashrafs disappearance. We even printed posters with his Photograph, stating, “ Anybody having any information about this person would inform us”. We had also mentioned that Ashraf is mentally unstable. This was just to save him from security agencies because he was not able to speak Hindi or Urdu and was hard of understanding languages other than Kashmiri. We supposed, if any security agency picks him up, he wouldn’t respond them.  

“After few days of his disappearance, one of the resident from Safakadal told us that CRPF troops arrested a youth in Safakadal. We visited all the CRPF posts in the vicinity of Safakadal and also visited police station but neither CRPF troops nor police acknowledged such arrest. Around 60 of our relatives searched him in all the districts of the valley but nothing divulged out. Police proved helpless in ascertaining my brothers whereabouts.” Said Nisar Ahmad.

He further groused, “Eventually on March 27, Police Post Noor bagh informed us on phone that they have recovered a dead body from Jehlum River at Krishibal. A woman, who was washing utensils at the River Shore, had seen my brother’s dead body floating on the River. She had raised an alarm and then the villagers had fished out the body. The locals of Krishibal had then called Police Post, Noor Bagh for taking dead body into their custody. After police called us, whole of locality rushed to Police Post, Noor Bagh and brought the dead body to Bemina in the form of a procession. Police post Noor Bagh, registered a case regarding the incident. At the time of his ablution, we found that his body bore some apparent bruises and wounds on it. His upper lip, right Cheek and right eye were swelled up and bore some injury marks. His nose was bleeding before and after performing his ablution. The blood was clotting during bleeding. There were also some bluish marks and bruises on his left haunch, which were looking as if he was beaten by a rod. His dead body seemed fresh as it had sunken two or three days back. This made us suspicious that he might have been killed or thrown into water after 3 – 4 days since he disappeared.  Finally, after performing his last rites we buried him in our native graveyard. We could not have his autopsy because residents of our area refused for getting it conducted.”

Azi, 50, frail and wailing mother of deceased Ashraf said, “neither my son was militant nor associated with any political or any other organization. He had been working as a tailor for the last 15 years and kept himself confined to his work only. Whole of our locality knew him well. He was very kind and used to offer all the five prayers. He was never arrest or entangled in any erroneous activity. I don’t know, why death met him in such manner. Both my courage and hopes have been shattered due to his callous death.”

She added, “So far police have not investigated the matter of my sons death or disappearance. I appeal the authorities that the matter has to be investigated and perpetrated must be brought to the book”, concluded Azi.   

INNOCENT TORTURED IN NOWHATTA 

On March 2, the paramilitary CRPF troops arrested Mudasir Ahmed Bhat, 20, son of Irshad Ahmad of Haka Bazaar, Nowhatta, downtown Srinagar and later released him in moribund condition.  

The arrest triggered massive protest demonstrations in the area, hundreds of people took to streets at Nowhatta and blocked the roads after the troops picked him up. Mudasir was shifted to an unknown location. He according to the locals had been shifted to unknown place where he was tortured severely.

After Mudasir’s release the reporter of The Informative Missive visited victim family and talked to the victim and his family about the incident. 

Mudasir while narrating his sufferings to The Informative Missive stated, “On Sunday, March 2 at around 2pm, I came out of the mosque after finishing noon prayers and reached to my nearby workplace. I sell petrol on the footpath at Nowhatta, Chowk. I was standing there, meanwhile a CRPF Gypsy bearing registration number DLC9G/3711 suddenly stopped in front of me, after which some troopers approached me. They asked me for my name, whilst I revealed, they caught me up and forcibly bundled me into their Gypsy. I implored for knowing my fault but without saying any thing they took me away.”

He added, “In the car I was slapped when I pleaded for my innocence. The troopers first drove towards Khanyar and then took right turn towards Bohrikadal. The troopers constantly asked me, do you know any Carpenter I reiterated no. On reaching to Bohrikadal I was blindfolded, I started screeching and begging for my release. For doing so, my hands were forcibly put on my mouth and tied. They abused me and punched me on the face. The forced me to be mum and threatened me to kill if I didn’t comply. Finally the vehicle stopped at some unknown place. Blindfolded I was taken out of the Gypsy, two cops caught me by arms and got stepped me up into a building. I was taken inside a room, laid down on something presumably table. Both My hands and legs were tied with it and then the troopers started to torture me.” 

“Blindfolded, they removed all my clothes and started to beat me with some rods on the legs, loins and Shoulders. My arms and back were scalded with some hot instrument. My lips, nose and cheeks were struck with gun butts, which caused unstopping bleeding to my nose and lips. My left cheek and lips swelled up and got grave injuries due to the heavy gun thumps. The trooper burnt my forearms by cigarette bits. While being tortured I heard afternoon prayers call. I requested the troopers for offering prayers. In return to this they again beaten me up severely and few troopers got over my chest and mashed me. I cried a lot for help and finally fell unconscious. In the unconscious state I could not realize how more they tortured me. Around 8 – 10 troopers were torturing me, some were holding my arms and legs and others were battering me. During the whole episode of torture the troopers kept me blindfolded and repeatedly asked me about the carpenter, which I continuously refused, because I had know knowledge of any carpenter. Lastly when the troopers realized that I am innocent they released me half dead at around 8pm at Sekidaffar, Safakdal Chowk. Initially I could not comprehend where I was thrown but after I opened tie from eyes I found myself at that place. An Auto rickshaw was passing bye, the driver after finding me in moribund condition, put me up and ferried me to my house. From there I was swiftly shifted to the hospital for the treatment”, said Mudasir while revealing the miseries inflicted on him..

Mudasir’s father Irshad Ahmad complained, “ neither my son was involved in any criminal activity nor associated with 

any political or non-political organization. I could not understand why he was picked up and tortured ruthlessly. He never goes out of his locality and even he does not know where is Lal Chowk. His gentleness and generosity could be ascertained from the whole Nowhatta, area. It is the locals of our area who held strong and continuous protests till Mudasir got released. They did so because they are well aware of Mudasir’s innocence. This is simply tyranny not a single judicious body or authority interferes into such incidences.”


CASE 01
Name: Ghulam Ahmad Dar; Residence:  Rakhi Haigam, Sopore; Gender: Male; Age: 38 years 

Date of arrest: 1997; Place: Naidkhai (Sona Wari); Agency involved:  Indian Army (Gadwal Regiment)
 

Ghulam Ahmad Dar, a resident of Rakhi Haigam, Sopore was arrested at Naidkhai Sona Wari by Gadwal Regiment of Army. “After my arrest I was taken to Doabgah Sopore and was detained for about two months”, said Dar. While recounting the method of torture Dar said,” Army personnel hanged me upside down continuously for hours. Iron rollers were rolled on legs and back. Chilly powder was forcedly poured into my mouth. Head was forcedly inserted into bucket of chilly cold water. Electric shocks were given to different body parts.” As a result of torture the marks of injuries are still visible on his body. “During torture army personnel broke down my several bones and even now I am not able to function properly,” said Dar. “Armed personnel were demanding arms and ammunition which I denied to had”, added Dar.

Dar was allowed to meet his family after fourteen days of his arrest. Though he was tortured badly and he received major injuries during his detention he was never taken to hospital or given any medicine.        

CASE 02

Name: Ghulam Rasool Lone; Residence:  Sayed Kareem Baramulla; Gender: Male; Age:  42 years 

Date of arrest:  June 1991; Place: Old Town Baramulla; Agency involved:  Indian Army (Rajput Regiment) 

 
In June 1991, Ghulam Rasool Lone was arrested at old town Baramulla. Lone was first taken to Baramulla Stadium Camp and later at JIC Baramulla and Badami Bagh Cantonment, Srinagar.  While narrating his torture testimonial Lone said, “I was stripped at the site of arrest and army took me to the detention place Baramulla stadium camp. Army forced me to lean on cement floor with water scattered over it and current was passed through it. Beside that my head was forcedly pushed into dirty and filthy water. They beat me continuously for 2 days with iron rods; chilly water was poured into my mouth and anus. They throw me into a dirty pitch and applied current to it. They also take my signature on certain documents that ‘states no torture was done to victim’. They take me to various crackdown and search operation for identifying militants”. 

As a result of torture Lone’s several bones were broken and still he is unable to walk or stand properly, injury marks are clearly visible on his body. He was neither taken to hospital nor shown to doctor even his family was not permitted to meet him. 

The purpose behind the torture Lone believed was to recover arms and ammunition and profile of his group. They demand arms and ammunition and was asking me the name and address of other militants of that militant outfit for whom I was working.” 

CASE 03
Name: Abdul Ahad Bhat; Residence:  Tarzoo Sopore; Gender: Male; Age:  38 years 

Date of arrest:  18, 0ctober 1991; Place: Fruit Mandi Sopore Agency involved:  Indian Forces (BSF) 

Abdul Ahad Bhat was first arrested at Spore in October 1991 and later in May 1993. “They took me to BSF camp Located at Fruit Market, Sopore and in May 1993, I was again arrested. Forces took me to Sub Jail Baramulla. 

While narrating the torture methods, Bhat said,” My legs were tied and they hanged me upside down continuously for three days. Simultaneously they beat me with batons. Later Iron rolls were rolled over legs and back electric shocks were given to penis and ear. Iron rods were inserted among fingers and they were run by foot, flesh was plucked from forearm.”  

After fifteen days his family was permitted to meet Bhat. As a result of torture the injury marks are still visible on his body.  His fingers and elbow were dislocated during torture they are even unable to function properly. No medical remedies were provided to Bhat although he received major injuries. The purpose behind the torture was to recover arms and ammunition and to take in hand other militants.  

I WAS FORCED TO DRINK MY URINE

KASHMIRI STUDENT WRITES FROM TIHAR JAIL
March 22: “I was brutally tortured, forced to drink my urine and kept with a pig in the jail cell,” writes Muhammad Rafiq Shah of suburban Alesteng in his letter from the Tihar jail where he is languishing for the past three years without trial. Rafiq was a student of Kashmir University when arrested for ‘carrying out blasts” On the eve of Diwali in New Delhi on October 29, 2005. The then vice-chancellor Kashmir University has testified Rafiq was in the campus on the day of blasts. 

 The then Delhi Police chief, KK Paul, had given Rafiq a clean chit. But its Special Cell claims he’s guilty.    “I am innocent and falsely implicated in the case by the Special Cell of Delhi Police in collaboration with Special Task Force of Kashmir Police. I was a regular student of the department of Islamic Studies in Kashmir University where I was pursuing Masters Degree. I was picked up by the joint team of Delhi and Kashmir police from my home at midnight,” Rafiq states in the letter.  

 “I was brought to Delhi where I was brutally tortured, forced to drink urine. I was kept naked and forced to suck private parts of co-accused. Rats were let into my trousers and when I cried, the police officials laughed and took my pictures with their mobile phones. To shake my religious sentiments, my body was touched with a small pig. Later I was kept locked with the pig in a single cell. The police officials used to say ‘every Kashmiri is a terrorist.’ A gun was pointed at my forehead and I was made to sign a bundle of blank papers,” he writes. 

 “In 2006, five persons were produced before the print and electronic media by the UP Police in which they spilled the beans of the Delhi blasts. I fail to understand why I am being victimized when my innocence is crystal clear. I have full faith in Almighty Allah and that justice will prevail and the police will get exposed,” the letter adds.

 Rafiq’s mother, Mehmooda Akhtar, maintains that her son is innocent. “I can’t bear the inhuman treatment of my innocent son by the Delhi Police. Due to torture he has developed various disorders. I will hold the chief minister Ghulam Nabi Azad responsible for my son’s plight. What happened to his assurance that no Kashmiri will be harassed outside the state,” she asked. 

 “We made many representations to ministers and bureaucrats. They only gave hollow assurances. I want to see my son free and I will fight till my last breath,” she said.    

 Even the then vice-chancellor of Kashmir University, Professor Abdul Wahid Qureshi had testified that Rafiq was in the Islamic Studies department on the day of Delhi blasts. “Rafiq was a regular student. According to teachers and records, on the day of blasts in Delhi he was in classroom. The university has played its role by issuing certificate in this regard to his parents,” Wahid Qureshi had told media in June 2007.   

 Curiously, in its January 21, 2006 issue, The Times of India reported under the headline ‘Truth test doesn’t show Rafiq was 29/10 bomber’: The claim made by the Special Cell of Delhi Police that they have arrested the Govindpuri bomber is fast falling apart. The narco-analysis test of the accused Muhammad Rafiq Shah was perhaps their last hope. But even that has failed to prove that Rafiq was the one who planted the bomb in the DTC bus at Govindpuri on October 29.” 

 Quoting KK Paul, the report adds that Rafiq “Does not seem to be the Govindpuri bomber; it seems at this stage that all the bombers have fled the country. Even in annual press conference, Paul has refrained from stating Rafiq was the actual bomber even when Special Cell had requested for test identification of the accused. The Special Cell however insisted that Rafiq was the bomber. As it has now turned out, the only reason was that Rafiq’s face resembled with that of the accused in the portrait prepared by the cops.”   

 The sketch of the bomber was prepared on description provided by one Rajiv Sinha who has been made a key witness in the case. The Special Cell had released three portraits of the bomber; one with a French beard, the other with a moustache and the third a clean-shaven one. Finally they tracked down Rafiq, whose face resembled with one of the portraits, in Srinagar.

Two days after his letter was published in many local dailies of Kashmir, students of the Kashmir University protest against Rafiq’s inhuman treatment in Tihar jail.   

Accusing the Government of India of victimizing Kashmiri youth, students of the University on March 24, demonstrated against detention and alleged torture of Muhammad Rafiq Shah, a student jailed for the past three years in infamous Tihar Jail at New Delhi.

 The students have decided to observe a complete strike and hold a Candle Vigil at the city hub, Lal Chowk on March 26, to demand Rafiq’s release and express solidarity with his family.    

 Rafiq who was pursuing his Masters in Islamic Studies, was arrested on charges of carrying out blasts on the eve of Diwali in New Delhi on 29 October 2005. Rafiq’s family and the University authorities maintain that he was in his classroom at the time of the blasts. 

 The students boycotted their classes and shouted slogans against Delhi police, accusing it of victimizing the Kashmiri students. “Rafiq is innocent and has been implicated by the Delhi police as part of a conspiracy hatched by the Government of India to victimize the Kashmiri youth,” the students said. 

 Quoting Rafiq’s letter, which was published in a local newspaper on March 23, the students said “which law allows a detainee to drink his urine. We can’t tolerate the inhuman treatment of our colleague. We will register our protests at every forum to expose the foul deeds of India” 

 The students criticized the Kashmir University authorities “for adopting lackadaisical attitude” in securing Rafiq’s release.  “When the former vice-chancellor, Abdul Wahid Qureshi has testified that Rafiq was in the University at the time of the Delhi blasts, why doesn’t the state government fight for his release? It is the responsibility of the University authorities and the state government to fight for his released from Tihar jail,” they asked.   Holding banners and placards the students later tried to march out of the campus, but policemen stopped them. 

 The president of the Kashmir University Students Association told media that if the Indian Prime Minister had promised there would be zero tolerance toward Human Rights abuses ‘he should deliver on the promise and immediately order Rafiq’s release and hundreds of innocent prisoners like him.”


On March 25, 2008 the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) took suo-moto cognizance () of the newspaper reports about the alleged harassment of Mohammad Rafiq Shah in Tihar Jail. The SHRC asked the security and the administrative authorities under the state government to furnish factual reports about the case to the Commission on or before April 16, 2008. “This commission considers the facts, as detailed in the newspaper, regarding the alleged inhuman treatment and torture of Muhammad Rafiq Shah, a student of Islamic Studies lodged in Tihar jail by the jail authorities,” the administrative officer of the SHRC said in a statement.

  “To make out prima-facie case for taking cognizance of the matter suo-moto, inhuman treatment and torture of the said student in terms of the principles laid down by the Supreme Court amount to gross violation of human rights,” it said.   

VALLEY DOCTORS THREATEN TO STRIKE AFTER

COLLEAGUE TORTURED BY COPS

 Mar 17: Doctors in Kashmir on March 17 gave a 48 hour long "ultimatum" to director General Police (DGP), Kuldeep Khoda for suspending station house officer (SHO) Khanyar Nasar Bakkhshi, allegedly involved in severe beating and torture of their colleague Dr Nazir Ahmad.

 They threatened to resort to strike and paralyze the functioning of hospitals in Kashmir if action was not taken against the SHO and his subordinates within the 48 hours. 

Addressing a press conference, the president of the Doctors association Kashmir (DAK), Dr Khalid Parvez said that all the doctors of the valley have decided to go for an indefinite strike, in case DGP will not place under suspension the SHO Khanyar, and order an enquiry into the beating of the doctor. 

Condemning the police action against Dr Nazir, the president said, "This is terrorism committed by men in uniform."

The doctors union has also sought the intervention of the chief minister, Ghulam Nabi Azad and minister of health and medical education, Pandit Mangat Ram Sharma so that the accused police officer is punished. 

He said, "The entire doctor community is in deep shock after witnessing torture marks on his body even as he has not committed a crime. 

He said that the incident occurred on March 10 around 5 in the evening, when Dr Nazir had parked his vehicle in the parking lot of the Gousia hospital. "Abruptly a police team, led by SHO Khanyar reached there and deflated its tyre. When Dr Nazir objected to it, the SHO and his bodyguards started beating him like anything.

 The doctor was dragged into the nearby police station, where he was tortured for several hours. When the doctor was released, he was virtually dead," Dr Parvez said. 

The union president said immediately after the incident, Dr Nazir's family member admitted him in the hospital, where the doctors diagnosed that his right arm was fractured and the body was badly tortured.

 He said, "Dr Nazir filed a written complaint, in the office of DIG Srinagar-Budgam range, with so that the matter would be investigated. The DIG assured the family members that an investigation would be started in the case. However, almost a week has passed, but nothing was done," he added. 

During the press conference, the victim Dr Nazir briefed the media men about the incident. He said that he was shocked, when SHO Khanyar raised objection about the parking of the vehicle.

 He said, "When I asked the police officer why he was deflating the tyre of my vehicle, the police men started abusing me and beat me with butts of their guns," he said. 

Dr Nazir said, "On the occasion the SHO shouted and asked his body guards, to kill me and that he would himself talk to the DGP. I was crying, what is my crime, why are you beating me, but they took me to police station, where I was tortured for several hours," he said. 

When contacted, DIG Srinagar-Budgam range, Mohammad Subhan Lone admitted that it is a highly unfortunate incident and excesses were committed against the doctor. He stated that he had already ordered investigations into the incident. DIG said, "If any officer or cop was found guilty, he would be punished and will even lose his job."

HO attached  

On March 18, the police authorities attached SHO Khanyar, Nisar Ahmad Bakshi, for allegedly beating a doctor to pulp in the city a few days ago. The officer has been attached with SP North and an inquiry has been initiated against him, police sources told media. 

Meanwhile, State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) has taken suo moto notice of the Police brutality on a young orthopedic surgeon who had been mercilessly thrashed and left injured by SHO Khanyar near Gausiya Hospital in Khanyar area of Srinagar.

Chairman of SHRC, Habeebullah Bhat, on March 18 issued a notice to IGP Kashmir, S M Sahai, asking for a detailed report with respect to the manhandling of Dr Nazir Ahmed Wani by SHO Khanyar in Khanyar area.

While Medical Superintendent of SMHS Hospital has been directed to conduct Dr Wani's medical examination and submit a detailed report, 

 
IGP Kashmir has been asked to sum up all facts and produce the same before SHRC by or before April 2nd. Commission has also asked Dr Wani to file an affidavit with regard to facts involving SHO's attack on him.

TARIQ WRITES FROM TIHAR JAIL

I was born on 27 November 1973 in Srinagar and was brought up in a middle class family. My family and I have nothing to do with any kind of politics nor are we involved in any social activity. I have five other siblings’ two brothers and three sisters. I completed my graduation in Science and Math and then decided to go for MSC in Chemistry. While I was perusing my degree, a pharmacy division (Johnson and Johnson Limited) offered me a job after passing an interview in May 1997.  My job was based on franchise and my consolidate income was approximately Rs. 15000 per month. In February 2001, I got permanent authority letter. Simultaneously, I was also involved in my own business of Kashmiri arts while after getting confirmation in job I decided to play as a sleeping partner in the business. 

From February 2001, to the date of my arrest I did excellently in Johnson and Johnson Limited Company. I was in the field of concept of selling new launches and marketing, for my dedication and hard work I was also honored with the gold medal for five occasions as I scored rank 1 in north zone and rank 2 in all over India (Concept Seller of the Company). Apart from that I was the highest incentive earner. Private companies offer more incentives than salary. My income for these 4 years was Rs. 1600000. I already earned Rs. 1000000 during these four years. I paid tax to the govt. through TDS on the same money. 


In 2003, June, I got married after completing all responsibilities of my sisters. Few days later after my marriage I send an SMS to one of my doctors whose name is Dr. Ravinder Singh Bali, a physician at Baramulla. However, it was my bad luck the cell phone was with his brother who happens to be a military officer with 15 Corps (unit and name not mentioned). Two days later I received an SMS from 15 Corps commander directing me to call on the same number immediately. I made the phone call and it shocked me, the person on the other end threatened me and introduced himself as Bali Sir commandant 15 Corps headquarters Badami Bagh. I politely asked for my fault, he angrily and rudely replied and told me to ask my manager to call him and apologies him for sending SMS to an army officer (SMS was regarding company product ultra set tablets). I was very afraid and contacted my boss Mr. Dhamerdra Misra who immediately contacted Mr. Bali and the issue was pacified. Next day I again received SMS from the same officer who again threatened me of dire consequences for sending the SMS. I got irritated and asked him what I have done wrong by sending a routine and normal SMS. I even asked him why his brother gave me his cell number and how did I knew that you are having it now or it has been gifted to you? These arguments brought miseries to my life I was never aware about it. This heated argument led to involve my boss D. Misra again. I informed him and he directed me not to argue with the officer. He made a phone call to him in that call Bali mentioned ‘my future in jail’. I take it easy for days but when my boss came from Jammu we went to Baramulla to meet Dr. B .S Bali whom we requested for intervention. Mr. Bali assured our safety but warned that his brother is a mad man who can do anything. He also informed me that his brother has given my details to IB so be careful he wanted to teach me a lesson for arguments. 


Two months later when I was coming from Anantnag wherein I have gone in connection of my job I was intercepted by some persons in civil cloths. I stopped my car to check but they kidnapped me on the gun point and blind folded me. My friend who was accompanying me was later allowed to go it happened on November 10, 2005 at 6:00 pm. I was taken to an unidentified place wherein I was electrified, my legs were stretched beyond 180 degrees and I was beaten black and blue. 

These men were asking me strange questions first they told me that I am giving medical aid to the militants I denied the allegations and tried my level best to convince them that I have nothing to do with militant organizations. They were hostile therefore they tried their level best to make me to accept such allegations but I insisted that it is a complete lie. Then they decided to book me in a case of Delhi bomber. I thought they are going to kill me as they did with hundreds of Kashmiris. They took me away from that place somewhere in the middle of night. I was unconscious due to torture. Finally they took me to Delhi where I was told about the telephone conversation. I requested them to talk to me instead of beating me; they narrated me a new story. They told me that my cell number was given to them by some militants and told during the interrogation that I am giving medical aid to militants when they needed, but they didn’t mention the name of any militant. I told them to bring him before me or show me to him but instead of doing this they switched to another story that I have given my phone set to some militant who has used that. I again refused the allegation, due to which they tortured me and implicate me in a false case. They stretch my legs more than 180 degrees, gave electric shocks on several times. Electric wires were connected to both of my ears and the current was passed using telephone type apparatus I was not spared till I lost my consciousness. Then they deprived me of sleep for several nights. They didn’t stop torturing me and continued it with different methods. They rubbed my body with a pig to demoralize me and to show hatred against Islam but I stuck to my truth. They brought some rats and put these rats into my trouser and they bite me like anything. All policemen were enjoying that. I was stripped naked all days and forcibly was made to drink urine instead of water. Stool was thrown on my body to show hatred against Islam and Muslims. I was told that there was not a single Muslim in special cell because we don’t like Muslims. When they failed to implicate me in the case, they decided to go for Norco analysis for knowing the truth. I immediately agreed and told the magistrate where I was taken for permission that I am ready to go for anything that will prove my innocence. The said test was carried and my innocence proved. After conducting the test no recovery or raid was carried out that loudly speaks the truth finally Special Cell personnel asked me to agree something that will save their face as they believe they will never know the perpetrators behind the serial bomb blasts at Delhi so they want to save their skin my making someone as scapegoat. I ask them how they can put an innocent person in the case despite fully aware about his innocence. Their reply was shocking they said, “You are a Muslim with an advantage of being a Kashmiri so we can easily implicate you in a case of terrorism, and there will be no hue and cry from anywhere. I was really shocked to hear the answer that too from responsible officers (ACP and inspector). Then they brought two innocent Kashmiris from Srinagar and booked them in the case to give it a weightage. 

Two years have passed now, we are neither being released not discharged even courts are yet to decide whether to discharge us or release us on bail. Nor it charge us under any case as there was no recovery of arms and ammunition, no evidences or records that can prove our guilty. Police create circumstances to implicate us in false case. Height of the injustice is that one of the person accused in Delhi bomb blasts Mohammad Hussain Fazli was not proceeded against in two FIRs by Special Cell itself. He is kept in jail without any trial. There is no one who can ask them is the evidences enough as proof to book him in a third FIR while the so-called evidence (circumstantial) remains the same in all the three cases. Another accused Mr. Rafiq Ahmad Shah was present in the University on the same day when he was accused of being at Delhi. Even Vice Chancellor of the university has given him the certificate of being at university. Besides, signed stamp paper by the professors of the University of his Presence in the university. But who cares from Kashmiris. 

I would like to reveal the facts of the case and subsequent court proceedings. I am alleged that my cell phone set was once used by a militant bearing SIM number 9906719815 before Dewali blast (Delhi serial blasts). They further alleged that a call was received on SIM number 9906719815 on November 1, 2005 and on November 4, 2005 from satellite telephone 00881621523999. In both the conversations some people were talking regarding Delhi blasts they say (Special Cell) that the information was received by them from IB. It is this information as per their case that led to my arrest on 10-11-2005 because the SIM was once used on my cell set having SIM No. 9906773692 this is an allegation against me and accused for such a big case. Now I will try to write the facts about the allegation based on proofs, evidences submitted by Delhi Police Special Cell itself. As the famous saying lies have no legs. First of all the SIM No. 9906719815 belongs to one Khursheed Ahmad whose address photographs voter card and other documents are attached with the challan there was no effort from Special Cell to identify the person or make him a witness in the case. The said SIM or set (9906719815) was not recovered from me nor it was recovered from anyone else. The SIM records submitted by the Special Cell in the challan itself shows that the SIM was still operating while I was in their custody in Lodhi Colony where I was tortured brutally leaving no stone form humanity. The record of the SIM No. 9906719815 submitted by the Special Cell itself shows calls up to December 2005 thereafter no record submitted I am sure that it must be still running and must be their own man. 


The information received by the Special Cell regarding the conversation recorded 1-11-and 4-11-2005 from IB was actually received on November 22-2005 while I was picked up by Special Cell on 10-11-2005 citing the same information as reason for my arrest. Document of IB attached as document A with the letter surprising part of the letter besides date is the number which they (IB say is 9906819815) it is totally different number than mentioned in the challan i.e. 9906719815. Now I am asking the justice loving people of the state is it fair to book an innocent person in such a heinous crime despite knowing fully the innocence of the person? Another surprising part of the story is that my alleged SIM and its set were not also recovered by Special Cell from me despite me being kept in custody for 52 days. Now you think for yourself is it possible for any person to hide anything especially such vital proofs from Special Cell which is known for its brutality regarding torture. I was even taken for Norco analysis test that led them nowhere, thus proving again my innocence. Now I am asking all related to the humanity what were they doing with me for 52 days if they failed to recover a single leaf from me doesn’t it suggest my innocence you will again be surprise to know that no one was arrested my instance or nothing was recovered from me even not a single raid was carried out on my instance. Is it not enough proof in itself that I am innocent? Now another Jungle Raj aspect of the case is that my voice was recorded at all event CFSL report itself mentions that the telephone number on which conversation was recorded was on telephone No. 9906819815 that too only for one date dated 1/11/ 2005. Why was not my voice sample taken for CFSL report? Why is that I am accused of 4/11/2005 that I have talked to someone and I mentioned that all four men are come back etc. Why was my alleged voice not taken to CFSL for authenticity or comparison (on dated 4/11/2005). All the above facts:

1. The alleged No.9906719815 belongs to Khursheed Ahmad not recovered nor the statement taken from Khursheed Ahmad, no information mentioned about his role or his whereabouts despite his address photograph and other documents. 

2. No SIM card or set is recovered nor even a leaf recovered from me despite being kept in Special Cell for interrogation where I was tortured brutally.

3. No raid carried or person arrested on my alleged disclosure statement or any lead to any militant organization till date no voice sample or CFSL report for alleged conversation with alleged LeT militant on 4-11-2005.

One more vital point of the case, that suggests that the alleged satellite number was under observation from 9 September 2007 when there should have been some record for any conversation before Delhi serial blast that as per details submitted in the challan doesn’t exist. The facts clearly states that the innocent person is facing court trails just for enmity faith or Kashmiri origin. It is now more than two years court is not able to decide whether charge me or discharge me. Now where shall I go to get justice? To me answer is only one thing bring my truth to the common of this country and wait for his decision. If I am guilty of conspiracy abetting or supporting the act willingly or unwillingly I will hang myself in public. This is my word to the common men in general and to the relation of the victim in particular. The other case is related to the financial transaction now you see my company has given its certificate regarding my salary mentioning my total package as Rs. 350000 (attached the latest copy of 2005 attested and issued by J&J). I have been working in J&K Company since May 1997. This means I have earned a salary of Rs. 3000000 from company if I withdraw my salary from bank that is must my transaction will become Rs. 6000000 now I am asking is it a crime withdraw salary? Does this transaction make me a terrorist the challan mention that I am also involved in hawala money where it exists? Regarding foreign currency I have deposit US$ 500 once in 2003 and $1500 in 2003 that after submitting proper documents required by the bank. Besides this I have deposited 16000 Reyals in the bank in 2003 again after proper requirements filled does it make a terrorist?  

SRINAGAR BUSINESSMAN LANGUISHING IN TIHAR JAIL ON CONCOCTED CHARGES
March 6: A Kashmiri businessman is languishing in Delhi's Tihar Jail for past two years allegedly on fake charges Muhammad Amin Khan, a handicrafts dealer and his friend Vijay, a New Delhi-based forwarding agent were detained by the sleuths of the Delhi Police's Special Cell from the Airport Cargo.

Khan, 48, a resident of Srinagar Soura area, told a team of the Kashmir High Court Bar Association which visited the Kashmiri prisoners in Tihar, how he was implicated in a fake case.

Quoting Khan, a report prepared by the Bar Association says that he had received a consignment from Saudi Arabia. On June 15, 2006, Khanand his friend Vijay went to the Airport Cargo to receive the consignment. But on seeing the consignment containing carpets, domestic goods and a satellite phone in tampered, Khan refused to accept it and entered into a heated argument with the customs officials. Khan sought clarification from them as to how the consignment was tampered with.

However, he and Vijay were arrested from the airport Cargo. Vijay was released the next day while Khan was kept at an unknown location till June 29 and then sent to the Tihar. The report further says the consignment had reached a week before and the airport police personnel opened it. In the case filed against Khan, in the court it has been stated that he was arrested on June 16 and then released on June 17, which Khan terms untrue.

According to Khan, the custom authorities had told the court that since the consignment was in an open condition when Khan had gone to collect it,” therefore he should get benefit of doubt." The bar team visited Tihar on October 25, 2007 on directions of the High Court. Khan according to the report told the Bar that the Jail authorities were subjecting them to inhuman treatment and restricting them from their religious obligations."Khan told that he had no money to engage a lawyer to plead his case,"Bashir Sidiq told media adding the kashmiri detainees in Tihar are "Living a miserable and horrible life."   

BANGALORE COLLEGES ASK KASHMIRIS TO GET NON TERRORIST CERTIFICATE

 March 9: The Kashmiri students aspiring admissions in the educational and professional institutes of India's Southern Bangalaroo (formerly Bangalore) are a disappointed lot because the authorities there have made the admissions subject to a 'Non Terrorist Certificate' (NTC), which the students are asked to get from the local Police officials in Kashmir. 

 
The move that was introduced after a militant attack on Indian Institute of Science and Technology, Bangalore in 2005, has affected career of scores of students, as they feel pushed to the wall when set out to get a stamp of not being a "terrorist". 

A management student Tahir (name changed) hailing from Bijbehara who recently got admission in one of the prestigious colleges of Bangalore told, “I was asked to submit the NTC along with my other certificates.” 

According to the students they are under “constant watch” and they are being treated as “suspects.” “It was better for us to pursue our studies in Kashmir,” the students said, adding, “Claims of Chief Minister that we won’t face any harassment are hoax.”     

After 2005 attacks on the Indian Institute of Science in Bangalore, Kashmiris studying there have often complained of the racial notes and other inconveniences meted out to them, and getting the NTCs is the latest “tool of harassment.” “It is only Kashmiri students who have to produce NTCs, none of the students from any other part of India are asked to produce any such certificate,” the students said. 

 The Students accused fellow students and teachers of harassing them, “We are being treated like aliens in the class rooms; our fellow classmates call us terrorists and the college staff is too rude with us,” they lamented.  

According to the students, Kashmiris are labeled as ‘extremists’ and are looked down upon. “Kashmiris are terrorists and fanatics,” the students quoted staff members and other fellow students as saying.    

Another female student, who wished not to be named, fearing reprisal, complained of losing one year due to the “rigidity” shown by the college administration.   

She said that she was asked to submit NTC in two days while she was in Bangalore, she could not get it done from Kashmir within the stipulated time. “I pleaded before them to give me some more time but college administration refused, and I lost one year,” she added.     

When contacted Inspector General of Police (IGP) Kashmir range Shiv Murari Sahai expressed ignorance about police issuing NTCs to the Kashmiri students seeking admission in Bangalore. “There is no such certificate as Non Terrorist Certificate,” Sahai said, adding, “Police issues Non involvement Certificate to the students who seek admissions in other states.”

 
The IGP said “Students can obtain Non-Objection Certificates (NOC) or Non-Involvement Certificates (NIC) from the concerned police station, but it is for the first time I have heard of colleges asking for non-terrorist certificates.”

An administration official of Dayananda Sagar College, Bangalore who wished not to be named told that it has been made compulsory for the students of Kashmir to submit NTC during admission time.

 “After IIS attacks in Bangalore and particularly the arrest of a software engineer who had links with terror groups, the college authority is asking for NTCs from students,” the official added.

UP SERIAL BLASTS

IT'S COOKED UP STORY, SAYS FAMILY OF ACCUSED
Mar 9: Father of the November 23 bomb blast accused Sajjad-ur-Rehman has alleged that Uttar Pradesh Police has framed his son in a fake case and sought intervention of the Prime Minister Manmohan Singh for his release. 

Seeking a CBI inquiry into the "alleged drama enacted by the UP Police in active connivance with the Jammu and Kashmir police to establish his son's involvement", 47-year-old Ghulam Qadri Wani, hailing from a remote village of Kochal said that "if the government would not heed to his pleas, he would be forced to commit suicide." 

Wani maintained that he has been knocking at the doors of the state administration including the Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad, but to no avail. He believes that if the state government orders a CBI inquiry into the arrest of his son, reality of the story drafted by state police in connivance with the UP police would shock the entire nation. 

Wani's son Sajjad-ur-Rehman was arrested by the Jammu and Kashmir Police on December 22, 2007 from his house at village Kushal in Chatru area of district Kishtwar for his alleged involvement in the November 23 serial bomb blasts at Lucknow, Varanasi and Faizabad in Uttar Pradesh. 12 persons including lawyers were killed and 50 wounded in the bomb blasts. 

Immediately, after his arrest, police claimed that two HUJI militants, Mohammed Tariq of Azamgarh and Khalid Mujahid of Jaunpur in Uttar Pradesh who were nabbed by UP police on March 21 had disclosed during their interrogation that Sajjad Wani was their associate in the serial blasts in court complexes at Lucknow, Faizabad and Varanasi. 

It had further alleged that the two arrested militants have claimed that Wani was also an accused in May 22 blast at Gorakhpur and last year's explosion at Sankat Mochan temple in Varanasi. Father of the accused Sajjad-ur-Rehman maintains that his son's knew one of the two accused but stressed, "Even the UP police admit in-person that his son is innocent and has been framed." 

Showing a letter of the Education department of Darul-Uloom Deoband, Wani said, "His attendance in the institute on the day of the occurrence of the bomb blasts (November 23) in Uttar Pradesh is self-speaking and confirms that he has been framed." He further said that his son was a studious person and was not involved in any subversive activity in the state. 

"They have tried to project my innocent son as the mastermind of the serial blasts, but I am determined to prove his innocence," added Wani. 

He said that attendance register of the madrasa at Deoband bears testimony to the fact that his son regular and punctual. "If he was at his madrasa in Deoband on November 23, then how have they established his involvement," added the father of Sajjad. 

Accusing the state police of fabricating the story regarding the arrest of Sajjad-ur-Rehman, Wani said that his son was not arrested in a pre-dawn raid but was taken by a team of STF posted at Chhatroo at around 8.30 am in the morning on December 22, 2007. 

"Sajjad had gone to a neighbor’s house, when the STF team came and asked for him, I sent him a message, he came back rushing to know why he was being sought by them?” averred Sajjad's father. He further added that STF team requested them to send Sajad with them for a "simple inquiry".

"Since I know my children very well, I asked Sajjad to accompany the team since they had inquired something from him. 

Thereafter I came to know through a newspaper that my son had been arrested and taken to Jammu for interrogation for his alleged role in the UP bomb blasts," added the father of Sajjad. 

He said that he came to know about the charges against his son through a particular newspaper, adding that the newspaper had left no stone unturned in branding him a major conspirator. "My son was kept in confinement for seven days at Jammu where he was interrogated by sleuths of UP police, STF and other intelligence wings for seven days," informed the father of Sajjad. 

He said that Sajjad was taken to Uttar Pradesh on December 29, 2007 and after interrogation, was sent to the Lucknow jail. "My son told me that he had been forced to sign some blank documents," added the apprehensive father. He disclosed that he met his son and asked him about the grounds of his arrest. 

"My son told me that he knew Maulana Khalid since he was a member of the Majlis-e-Ahrar which is a political organization and used to write an essay for its monthly Urdu magazine named Ahrar," added the father of Sajjad. He said that his son was named by Maulana Khalid during the interrogation. 

"He was forced by the STF at Lucknow to name a "Kashmiri" for linking up the blasts at Utter Pradesh with the militant groups in Jammu and Kashmir," added Wani. He said that police and army searched every nook and corner of his house but had to cut a sorry figure when nothing was found. Demanding a CBI probe into his son's arrest, Wani said, "Let the CBI find out the truth."

SOUTH INDIA POLICE TARGETS KASHMIRI TRADERS

GOONS INJURE 5 IN KNIFE-ATTACKS FOLLOWING ALTERCATION

Mar 16: Chennai police arrested ten Kashmiri businessmen after a minor altercation with a local shopkeeper. A group of Kashmiri Businessmen from Chennai who on March 16, visited a local media office said that some Kashmiri businessmen had an altercation with some shopkeeper there, following which some goons caught hold of a Kashmiri teenaged boy.

“When we went to rescue him, the goons attacked us with Knives injuring five of us,” Manzoor Ahmed, a Kashmiri handicraft dealer from Chennai’s told media. He further added that the police instead of extending help arrested them. “One of us asked the police for protection but the police arrested him.”

The businessmen alleged that the goons have political backing of a politician-actor and are specifically targeting Kashmiri businessmen. “Our businesses have been affected very badly because our employees are afraid to open the shops. They are even refusing to live in the residential areas as they fear more attacks.” Another Kashmiri businessman told media.A few days ago, a Kashmiri salesman at Chennai’s posh Spenser Plaza had a minor scuffle with a tea-vendor over a trivial issue later resolved upon the intervention of local Kashmiri businessman. However, three days later, the tea vendor returned with some goons, beat up the salesman ending up in a fight that left five Kashmiris severely injured.

Last year, similar incidents of harassment of Kashmiri businessmen in Karnataka and Goa had prompted the chief minister, Ghulam Nabi Azad to dash off letters to all the chief ministers of India requesting that Kashmiri businessmen should not harassed.

The deputy chief minister, Muzzafar Ahmed Beigh when contacted by the media said: “I will ask Ghulam Nabi Azad to contact the chief minister of Tamil Nadu.”

Local news agency quoting DGP, Kuldeep Khoda said, “We’ve taken up the matter with the Kerela police. They have confirmed arrest of 10 people including six Kashmiris,” adding they would shortly be released. The Kashmiri businessmen of the area have alleged that they are been targeted specifically because they are Kashmiris.

However on March 18 the Chennai police instead of acting against the culprits did not released the six traders who were detained. The arrest warrant issued against fifteen others has sent a wave of shock and fear among the Kashmiri traders in the state who think it safe to return back. Although, some local businessmen and the Kashmiri politicians besides Kashmir Police had tried to intervene, however they did not succeeded in getting them released.

Manzoor Ahmad, a Kashmiri trader while speaking to one media organization on phone from Chennai said that Ajaz Ahmad, Irfan Ahmad, Muhammad Shafi, Sarvar Ahmad, Bilal Ahmad and Imtiyaz Ahmad continued to be in the Chennai police custody on the fifth consecutive day today. He said that despite several attempts, they could not get them released on bail. He further said anticipatory bail had already been sought in favour of fifteen others against whom the police had sent arrest warrants.

He said that following these developments, Kashmir traders, salesmen in particular were scared of working in Chennai, which has affected our businesses.

According to the available reports, Chennai police has registered the cases against the Kashmiris for their ‘involvement in loot and inciting communal hatred’.

INDIAN STUDENTS IN SKUAST JOIN DEMILITARIZATION CHORUS

TROOPS OCCUPYING SOPORE CAMPUS FOR 18 YRS; GIVE US ALTERNATIVE WE’LL LEAVE: CRPF

March 9: Students from various Indian states who are pursuing studies at Sher-e-Kashmir University of Agricultural Sciences and Technology (SKUAST) in Sopore are joining their Kashmiri counterparts to demand the demilitarization of the campus, which remains occupied for past 18 years. 

Amjad Khan (name changed) of Bihar, who is pursuing his post graduation, believes that heavy deployment of troops in the campus adds to the “insecurity”. “I regret seeking admission in this University. I was better off in my native place,” Khan said.

A group of non-local students seconded Khan. “It’s very difficult to study under the shadow of gun,” they said, adding, “Like our Kashmiri counterparts, we too want the strength of troops to be reduced.”

“God forbid hell can break out with a single misfire. We are not able to concentrate on our studies due to frequent searches and frisking by CRPF. Back home, our parents are worried about our well being,” the students said.

“From the day we’ve joined the varsity we’ve been demanding pull back of troops.” 

The varsity, two decades back, was the premier learning institute in the valley but is presently under the occupation of troopers of 92 battalion of paramilitary CRPF and looks like a garrison.

Students also accused CRPF troopers of harassing them. "Here it is just like a prison. After 6 pm we are scared to move outside the hostel due to CRPF’s presence. They continuously frisk us," said Nazir Ahmed, a student. 

“The troopers also steal vegetables which we grow as part of our experiments and practical.”

An official of the SKUAST pleading anonymity said that about 358.45 kanal of land and 14 buildings including include the Faculty of Agriculture (FOA) and Regional Research Station (RSS) at Wadura are presently under the CRPF occupation.

Researchers at the varsity pleading anonymity said, “We’ve been doing research under the shadow of gun for the past 18 years. First it was Army, then BSF moved in and after few years CRPF replaced them."

Residents of Wadura said that their livelihood has been hit by the occupation of the campus. “Prior to the occupation of the varsity, the campus used to remain abuzz with activities. People used to come here on picnics. Hundreds of locals then earned their livelihood selling vegetables grown in the campus,” said Khazir Muhammad, a resident.

Public Relation Officer (PRO) CRPF, Prabhakar Tripathi told media that the state government has provided them with the accommodation in the varsity. "We will relocate our men from the campus if the state government provides us the alterative place," he said adding, “CRPF looks only after three things, water, electricity and hygiene sanitation while space is provided to them”.

TROOPS OCCUPY 7 HOUSES IN KAWDARA SINCE 1996  

PROVIDE US ALTERNATIVE WE WILL VACATE: CRPF
March 18: Troopers have occupied seven residential houses in old city here for the past 12 years. The owners of these houses have been running from pillar to post to get their properties vacated but haven’t succeeded till date.

According to locals, residents of the area purchased seven houses of Kashmiri Pandits after the community members fled the Valley following the outbreak of armed rebellion in early nineties at Kawdara Chowk. 

“Troopers have been occupying these seven houses since 1996,” said Ghulam Hassan, a shopkeeper at Kawdara Chowk.

Hassan said that no militancy related incident has taken in the area for the past many years. “We don’t see the need of troopers in the area,” he added.

Noor Muhammad Motta, owner of one of the houses said, “Earlier BSF occupied our properties. Later CRPF replaced them. It seems they don’t have any intention to vacate our property.” 

Motta said that they have approached the authorities on many occasions to get their properties vacated. “Till date we’ve just got verbal assurances,” he said adding, “So far I have not received a single penny as a rent from the troopers.”

When contacted in charge Public Relation Officer CRPF Sudhanshu Singh said, “The State government has to pay rent. We’ve got nothing to do with it. Police identified these houses. They told us to move in. We’ve not occupied any of the houses forcibly.” 

Singh said that the demand of the residents to get their houses vacated is justified. “It’s their (locals). It is their right to get its possession. If we are provided with the alternative we are ready to shift.”

The Deputy Inspector General, Home Guard, A S Lone said, the Police has to arrange some other alternative of accommodation for the troops. “Troopers can’t vacate till they are provided with some other option,” he said.

AFTER BUILDING CONCRETE BUNKER CRPF ‘ENCROACHES’ PLAYFIELD

March 17: Outraged at the ‘encroachment’ of a playfield by the paramilitary CRPF troopers, the residents of Brarinambal, Babademb in old city here staged a protest for second consecutive day, March 17. 

“The Forces have fenced the ground from inside, occupying a corner of the playfield. The ground is ours, how can we let some one mark the boundaries,” the protesters who had assembled near the bunker on March 17 afternoon told media.   

“First they made their (CRPF men) bunker concrete. Initially they encroached the road now they are trying to occupy the play ground,” the protesters said, adding, “We will not succumb to pressure.”   

 The protesters mostly youth entered into a heated argument with the troopers. “If you don’t stop encroaching into our play filed we will raise the bunker to ground,” youth told the CRPF men.

JALIL ANDRABI CASE

JUDGE: COMPLAINT JUSTIFIED IN LEVELING ASPERSIONS ON COURT
 March 13: A judge has publicly expressed his helplessness in a case involving Army— for the first time in the history of Kashmir judiciary.

On March 12, Chief Judicial Magistrate, Budgam while adjudicating upon a petition seeking personal appearance of the notorious Army officer Major Avtar Singh, main accused in Jalil Andrabi murder, observed: “The complainant party seems to be now justified in leveling aspersions against the court for its inability to procure the attendance of the accused.” (Sic)

Jalil, a noted lawyer and eminent human rights activist, was picked up from his car near his residence at Peerbagh, Hyderpora on March 8, 1996 by Army’s 34 Rashtriya Rifles unit stationed at Budgam, headed by Major Avtar. 

Jalil’s wife Rifat who had witnessed the incident, tried to file a First Information Report (FIR) in the Saddar police station. But the police refused as Army was blamed for the abduction. 

Jalil’s decomposed body, with his hands tied up and his face mutilated, was found in the Jhelum on March 27. The autopsy report stated that Jalil had been killed some 14 days earlier. He had apparently died of gun shot injuries to his head that also bore injuries inflicted by a blunt while his eyes were gouged out.

A petition was filed in the High Court seeking investigation of the murder by a special team of the police. A direction was accordingly passed but Major Avtar’s whereabouts could not be ascertained.  On July 7, 2007 the CJM directed the Senior Superintendent of police, Srinagar to ensure the presence of the accused on August 21, 2007. The CJM also directed the then Army Corps Commander (15 Corps) to provide assistance to the police officer in the matter. 

On September 26, 2007, a written communication was received on behalf of RR 34 (JAT) which disclosed Major Avtar’s whereabouts as TA-42277 Major Avtar Singh, S/O Ex Subedar Major (Hony Lt) Amar Singh, Village Ponti, PO- Mandhar, Tehsil- Jagadhari, District- Yamuna Nagar (Harayana). However, the communication did not reveal the present address of the accused.

The police also received two more documents (No.CRB/WSD/07/11682-84 dated July 26, 2007 and No. CRS/364/07-13442-43 dated August 3, 2007). After perusal of the documents, the court came to know that Major Avtar was staying in Canada as per the information of Royal Canadian Mounted police (RCMP) and that CBI has already taken up the matter with Canadian embassy for issuing Red Corner notice against the accused and his subsequent extradition. It was also learnt that IGP Crime and railways Jammu Kashmir is pursuing the matter by dealing with the CBI.

 On March 12, the CJM took strong note of state’s failure to produce the accused in the court.

 
He held: “It is very astounding that the state of Jammu Kashmir despite being posted with the whereabouts of the accused is not taking effective steps in the matter for ensuring the production of the accused in this court.”

The CJM directed the SSP Srinagar to ensure his presence in the court on April 10 with a detailed progress report in the matter for procuring the attendance of the accused.
GOVT’S INACTION FORCES VICTIM’S FAMILY TO MOVE COURT

MURDER OF CRIPPLED MUSICIAN 

Mar 9: After failing to get justice from the government, the family of the crippled musician, who was killed by the troops of paramilitary CRPF at Munawarabad in nearly two years ago, has decided to file a petition in the High Court. 

The musician, Inayatullah Bhat, 30, was shot dead, without any provocation, by the troops of the CRPF’s 46 battalion stationed at the Hotel Ikhwan here on June 30, 2006. Though the police had registered a murder case, however it has failed to initiate proceedings against the accused troops, for want of sanction against from New Delhi, by virtue of the Armed Forces Special Powers Act (APSPA).  

 “For nearly two years, the government is resorting to dilly-dallying tactics to punish the accused troops. We have now decided to file a petition in the High Court. We don’t want any compensation, but will seek action against the killer troops,” Innayat’s father, Rehmatullah Bhat, a baker told media.

Accusing the government of hushing up the case, Bhat said, “It is ironical that despite eyewitness accounts, circumstantial evidence and confession statements of the accused CRPF soldiers, the government has failed to get sanction against them from New Delhi. What more evidence does the government want,” Bhat asked. 

 “The troops killed my son just for demanding Rs 15 for a loaf of bread they had purchased from my shop. My son could not even walk without support and the brutal troops emptied magazines on his chest. No Act or law of a civilized country can justify the killing. The accused misused their powers and committed the crime as individuals not soldiers. Thus, they must be punished rather hanged,” he said.  

 
Bhat’s younger son, Rais said, “It was only due to massive protests that prompted the police to arrest the soldiers. However, after few days they were released. We live every moment in Innayat’s memory. My mother is yet to believe that Innayat is no more. I am eagerly waiting for the day when I will tell her that Innayat’s killers have been punished. But it seems we have to fight a long battle,” he asked.  

 “It seems the Indian government doesn’t want to punish its soldiers for it will demoralize their troops in harassing and killing the Kashmiris. 

Many mainstream leaders assured me justice. But their promises have proved hollow,” Bhat said. 

 A graduate, Inayat suffered multiple fractures in his hip when he fell from third storey of his house three years ago. He was operated upon many times. Bedridden for nearly two years, he could not walk without support of a crutch. Before the accident, Inayat worked in Doordarshan and Radio Kashmir as an approved artist and private producer. 

 Innayat’s killing had triggered violent demonstrations and clashes across the city for many days, in which scores of people and cops were injured. 

 Police had registered a case (FIR No. 56/2006) under section 302. The CRPF had also initiated a departmental probe into the killing, but its report result has not been made public. 

The CRPF spokesman, PK Tripathi said, “I will have to find whether the departmental inquiry has been completed or not.” 

 The senior superintendent of police (SSP) Srinagar, Afadul Mujtaba told media that sanction against the accused CRPF men is still awaited. “We can’t proceed against the accused troops, till we receive sanction from the Centre,” the SSP said. 

Under the AFSPA of 1958, the troops enjoy “unrestricted and unaccounted power” to carry out their operation in disturbed areas like Kashmir. By virtue of the act even a non-commissioned officer is authorized to shoot anyone on mere suspicion “in order to maintain the public order.”  

According to Section 6 of the APSPA, no legal proceeding can be brought against any member of the armed forces acting under the AFSPA, without the permission of the central government thus denying justice to the victims.

2 SONS IN JAIL, OLD FATHER FIGHTS ALONE

POLICE ‘BRUTALITY’ RUINS POOR NISHAT FAMILY
March 15: Two brothers from Nishat area of Srinagar are languishing in prison for the past two years—one of them, a Sumo driver suffering from epilepsy after brutal interrogation by police—without a trial. Both of them, according to their lawyer and family, have been framed by police. Meanwhile, a court has sought the personal appearance of Senior Superintendent of Police, Srinagar in the case.

Case history

On August 21, 2006, Muhammad Subhan Teli’s youngest son Bashir Ahmad, 24, a driver was 'abducted' by Nishat police station house officer, Shabir Ahmad. Bashir was told he had fled after crushing three persons in an accident while coming from Jammu, a crime Bashir says he never committed. 

Handcuffed and visibly sick Bashir told media in a judicial lockup on March 15 that the SHO Shabir Ahmad dragged him out of his vehicle and took him to Nishat PS. 

“On hearing the news, my father rushed my brother Showkat Ahmad, a plumber to the police station where he too was put behind the bars by the officer,” Bashir said. Next day, he said, he and his brother were handed over to the then Zakura, police station Gazanfar Ali and his associate R P Singh. 

Brutal torture

Bashir charged Gazanfar with ‘ruthlessly’ interrogating him and his brother. “Gazanfar crossed all limits and tied my head with a chair and stretched my body to the extreme resulting in serious skull injuries to me. Reports and X-rays show multiple skull fracture,” Bashir said.

According to the counsels of the two brothers, a 'concocted and fabricated' Fidayeen attack case was made against them and Feroz Ahmad, another accused. 

Police has claimed the two brothers were part of a Fidayeen squad led by Pakistani national Muhammad Ali, who is lodged in Mysore jail. A challan was presented in the court on August 13, 2007. But no trial has been started because the authorities have not produced Ali in the court. 

Sick mother

Teli, 72, and his wife who has become a depressive disorder patient since her two 'innocent' sons were arrested are waiting for the trial to start so their sons get justice. Bashir has developed epilepsy after suffering from serious skull fracture.

"We have suffered for no sin. My sons have become patients in jail. And their sick mother is waiting to see them free," Teli, a retired SRTC driver, told media.

Court angry

On March 15, first additional session judge Gausul Nisa directed SSP Srinagar to be present in person on the next hearing on March 31 for not producing Muhammad Ali, a Pakistani national who is serving detention in a jail in south Indian city of Mysore.

Police’s repeated failure to produce Ali in the court has affected the family of Muhammad Subhan Teli of Nishat whose two sons are languishing in Srinagar Central Jail for the past two years.

3 YOUTH KILLED IN FAKE ENCOUNTER TO BE EXHUMED

Mar 15: The district magistrate Rajouri has ordered the exhumation of the bodies of three persons allegedly killed in a fake encounter by the Army and buried on LoC near Pir Badaser. 

 A letter addressed to Deputy Inspector General, Rajouri-Poonch Range by the DM reads that the relatives of three missing persons of village Kotedhara in Rajouri have complained that their relatives were picked up by army in 1997 and later killed in a fake encounter.

 Abdul Aziz, 25, Muhammad Yousuf, 48 and Muhammad Aziz, 24 were working as porter-cum-informers with Army’s 18 Dogra regiment during the period of 1994-97. 

 The DM has asked the DIG that despite repeated reminders the police has given no response.  The DIG has been asked to personally intervene into the matter so that the exhumation process is conducted at the place identified by the relatives of the missing persons. 

 In June 2007, the DM had also ordered the exhumation of all three graves at LoC. But police opened only one grave at that time and a human skeleton was recovered who was later identified as Mohammad Yousuf by his wife Bago Begum. The police had sent it for DNA test, result of which is still awaited. The skeleton is still lying in district hospital Rajouri. 

 However, the rest of the two graves identified by the complainants were not opened due to unknown reasons.  The DM Rajouri, Rafiq Ahmad Sheikh told media that exhumation process of rest of the graves got delayed as the administration was waiting for the report of forensic lab.

 “The result of the forensic lab is still awaited, but now I’ve written to police for the exhumation of rest of the bodies allegedly buried at LoC as per the statements of the relative of the missing persons”, he added.

 Farooq Ahmed, brother of one of the missing persons said that his brother Mohammad Aziz accompanied by two others were working with 18 Dogra unit as porters cum informers during the period of 1994 -97. 

 “The unit commanded by Col. Maan Singh was stationed in Pir Badaser area. The CO used to send the missing persons across the LoC to get narcotics, which he later used to smuggle to Punjab and other states. When the unit got transferred, my brother along with his two colleagues returned home.”

 “But the CO sent a message to the trio asking them to meet him. Since then whereabouts of the trio are not known,” he said, adding that Col Maan Singh had apprehension that these people can expose his cross border narcotics trade. 

 “He killed them in a fake encounter and buried them on LoC,” he added.

DISAPPEARED RAFIQ’S FAMILY MEMBERS WANT FIR REGISTERED

TROOPS ACCOMPANIED HIM WHEN HE WENT MISSING IN 2002
March 14: Though the family of Rafiq Ahmed Sheikh, 21, of Meerakhabad Shalimar Srinagar has produced evidence of his enforced disappearance allegedly by 34 Rashtriya Rifles, police is still to register an FIR.

On June 18, 2002, Rafiq, a Tata Sumo driver went missing after he left his uncle’s residence at Police Housing Colony Bemina.

“We have produced eight people to Police Station Parimpora who have given their statements and informed them but until now police has not filed a missing report,” said Sheikh’s uncle Mehraj-ud-Din.

“Moreover, we came to know that Rafiq was lifted when he was accompanying a person associated with the troops of 34 RR,” said Rafiq’s brother, Farooq.

“The person accompanying my brother lodged at Hotel Island on Boulevard Dalgate. The hotel’s look book shows that he stayed there for a week after Rafiq’s disappearance,” Farooq added. 

A nearby photo studio had handed over Rafiq’s photos to his family where in a stranger Gurpreet Singh son of Swaran Singh of Taran Taran, Punjab was spotted with him.

However, police says that no one has turned up a witness. “Had we got any evidence we would have lodged an FIR,” said the Station House Officer Parimpora, Mushtaq Ahmad.

The family has filed a case in State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) under No 356 dated April 25, 2003. 

Rafiq’s mother Khatija, 65, says, “Even the SHRC failed to trace my son. The then Chairman M Y Kawoosa promised to handover the case to the Deputy Commissioner. However the case still lies with them.”

Rafiq’s cousin Ashiq said, "The day he left Police Colony he went missing. His whereabouts are not known until now although some relatives saw him from time to time."

Rafiq plied his vehicle, JK01F 2898, on the Srinagar-Jammu highway.

Ashiq said that troopers these days are seen in his vehicle, JK01F 2898, having chassis No 418005KYZ918661 and engine No 483DL47KYZ721919.

“After a few days wait, we became suspicious and approached the Police Station and narrated the entire story to them,” added Ashiq.

The family members said that they tried everything from ‘informing police control rooms of Ladakh and Jammu’ to ‘informing the IGP, DIG Traffic and Divisional Commissioner’ to trace him out, but all in vain.

Meanwhile, his relatives claimed to have seen him driving his vehicle for troopers from time to time. “On July 18, 2002 one of our relatives saw him at Shalimar. One more relative saw him at Bakshi stadium on October 26, 2002. However no one could approach him because of heavy presence of troops around him,” Ashiq added. 

Another relative, Zeenat from Soura saw him at Soura after 28 days of his disappearance.

Recently Ghulam Hassan, a neighbour saw him at 34 RR camp at Beeru Budgam. 

The family reached Beeru and saw Rafiq’s Sumo at the RR camp. A civilian assured the family about Rafiq’s presence in the camp but failed to see him.

The family then approached Police Station Beeru and handed over the details along with the photograph to them.

The family now demands a probe in Rafiq’s disappearance.

“My father died because of Rafiq’s separation,” said Rafiq’s brother Shamim.

Until now, the family has not received any ex gratia.

‘DEATH IN POLICE CUSTODY WARRANTS LOWERING FLAG OF CIVILIZATION’

11 POLICEMEN INDICTED FOR CUSTODIAL MURDER OF 2 CIVILIANS
 Mar 20: Terming the death of a detainee in police custody as a worst crime, the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) on March 19 indicted 11 policemen for custodial murder of two civilians in Jammu district, and directed the state to register a murder case against the accused.

 The SHRC ruling, in the cases involving custodial murder of Mushtaq Ahmad of Bhabore Doda and Mubarak Hussain of Thanda Pani Reasi, observed, “police was not supposed to run berserk and behave like ferocious, wild, and gigantic animals.” 

 The acting chairperson of the SHRC, Habibullah Bhat observed in the ruling that “death in the custody of police is perhaps one of the worst crimes in civilized society.” 

 “Nothing is more cowardly and unconscionable than a person in police custody being beaten up, and nothing inflicts a deeper wound on our constitutional culture than a state official running berserk disregarding human rights. The death is custody at the hands of those who are supposed to protect life and liberty of citizens is enough to lower the flag of civilization,” the judgment stated.  

 “The growing incidences of torture and death in police custody have been disturbing factor. Experience shows that the worst violations of human rights take place during the course of investigation, when the police with a view to secure evidence or confession often resort to third degree methods including torture. It hides arrests either by not recording the arrest, or terming the deprivation of liberty merely as a prolonged interrogation,” observed the chairperson, quoting the rulings of Supreme Court of India and the National Human Rights Commission. 

 “Death in custody is not generally shown in the records of the lock-up and every effort is made to show the arrested person died after he was released,” it adds.   

Case 1: Ramzana Bi of Thanda Pani, Reasi filed a petition in the SHRC accusing police of murdering her son Mubarak Hussain in custody on June 30, 2006. 

 The SHRC sought a report from the Inspector General of Police, Jammu Zone about the case. 

 The IGP’s report says on that day five policemen were deputed to the district jail Udhampur to escort Mubarak Hussain to the Reasi Court. 

 The accused policemen had said in IGP’s report that the accused had compelled them to stop the vehicle and allow him to urinate on the roadside. The vehicle was stopped at Bassan Morh and when Mubarak alighted from the vehicle, he escaped and took away a rifle and fired at the police party, which chased him, the IGP’s report had stated.  

 The report further said policemen of police post Tikri and Police Station Katra joined the search for Mubarak. 

 “In the meantime, a CRPF contingent on way from Arnas towards Udhampur also joined the search parties and located the accused. When the accused was asked to surrender, he fired upon the search parties and in retaliation by the CRPF he got killed,” the IGP’s report said. 

 After going through the police records and statement of witnesses, the commission’s acting chairperson, Habibullah Bhat, observed: “How can an accused compel the police party that he may be allowed to urinate outside and then flee away with the rifle? A person accused of a capital case is always brought in handcuffs from the jail premises to the Court. The jail vehicle is kept armed with band of police personnel. Stoppage en-route is not permissible. How could the police officials allow the detainee to come out of the armed vehicle freely?” 

 “This explanation is totally unrealistic and imaginary and this line of defense is against reason, logic, and unappealing to human wisdom. This story has been manufactured to hoodwink the genuine grievance of the petitioner. This is a clear case of custodial death and the petitioner is therefore justified for grant of ex-gratia relief,” the judgment said. 

 The Commission added: “Past history of the accused was no justification to kill him in custody. He may have been a bad citizen but it does not mean that police will take law in their own hands and kill him in custody.” 

 The Commission directed the state though the chief secretary to register a murder case against the five accused policemen, identified as assistant sub-inspector Lakhpat Rai, head constable Muhammad Iqbal, constable Harnarayan Singh, lady constable Harmeet Kaur, and constable Singh. 

 It also recommended relief of Rs 2 lakh to the family of the deceased. 

Case 2: Rafia Begum of Bhabore, Doda in 2005 filed a petition, accusing the policemen posted at Police Station Doda of custodial murder of her husband, Mushtaq Ahmad, on 8 August 2005.  

 Police had, however, sent a report to the Commission stating Mushtaq Ahmad had committed suicide by “slitting his stomach in custody.” 

 The Commission after reading the report of the district administrations observed Mushtaq was killed in custody.  

 “The medical evidence is undoubtedly helpful in coming to the conclusion that the alleged injuries upon Mushtaq’s body could not be self-inflicted, but could be inflicted by some other weapon. The report collected so far and the enquiry conducted have undoubtedly established that the petitioner’s husband was brutalized and tortured in police custody, which caused his death while being shifted to Government Medical College Jammu,” the SHRC judgment said. 

 The Commission recommended a murder case should be registered against the six police officials who were on duty the day Mushtaq died. 

 The accused policemen are SHO Doda Inspector Mohan Singh, head constable Anchal Singh, constables Muhammad Iqbal, Farooq Ahmad, and Muneer Ahmad. 

 The Commission recommended Rs 2 lakh to the wife of the victim, and directed the state to realize Rs 50, 000 from the accused SHO and an equal amount from the other accused policemen. The Commission also recommended a job to the petitioner.

CM ORDERS JUDICIAL ENQUIRY INTO YOUTH'S DEATH, SHO'S SUSPENSION

March 9: Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad has ordered judicial inquiry into the alleged killing of a Sidra youth by police on March 8.

The Chief Minister, who met the family members of the dead youth, assured them that the enquiry would be completed within 14 days and stringent action taken against any police official found guilty.

The Chief Minister also ordered immediate constitution of a board of doctors to conduct post mortem of the dead youth.

Meanwhile, pending enquiry, the SHO, Bahu Fort has been placed under suspension.

The Chief Minister consoled the bereaved family and announced an ex-gratia of Rs.One lakh.

LAWYERS HELD HOSTAGE AT KOTBALWAL

POLICE ASSEMBLED MOB TO KILL US
Mar 17: The Kashmir High Court Bar Association members had a narrow escape on March 17 when they were held hostage by a hostile mob outside Kotbalwal jail in Jammu where they had gone to visit the detainees. Kot Bhalwal jail authorities refute Kashmir bar claims
 “This was a conspiracy hatched by superintendent of police, Kotbalwal jail, and his additional SP,” said Bar president Nazir Ahmad Ronga. 

 In Srinagar, the attack evoked strong response with lawyers saying it was an indication what detainees were facing in jails. “If this could be done to lawyers who had visited the Kotbalwal jail on the orders of High Court, imagine the condition of detainees,” the lawyers said. 

They condemned the incident and met the Chief Justice of the State asking him to take serious note of the episode. The lawyers went on strike and lodged protest in sadder court. 

 The Bar had recently filed a petition in the High Court drawing attention towards the plight of detainees in the Kotbalwal jail. The petition had stated that a detainee, Masrat Alam, was beaten in the jail. The High Court admitted the petition and ordered the Bar team to visit the jails and provide legal assistance to the detainees if needed. 

 The Bar joint secretary Bashir Sidique said the Superintendent of Police, Kotbalwal jail, was contacted on March 16 and briefed about the Court order. He said the SP told the Bar to fax the order and next day he informed the Bar team on phone to have interaction with inmates at 2 pm on March 17.

 He said when the Bar team comprising Nazir Ahmad Ronga, Muhammad Ashraf Bhat and himself reached the spot at the fixed time there was a crowd of some 100 persons who were shouting slogans against the Bar and in favour of additional SP Saleem Mirza.

 He said the Bar team was not allowed to enter the jail by the jail authorities and the mob was consistently “hurling abuses on us.” 

 “For nearly two hours we remained outside the jail. We were not allowed inside nor we were provided a vehicle to move away from the place,” he said.

 “At about 3.45 pm jail superintendent called our president and requested for a meeting with the team. Our president refused to meet him and asked how the mob came to know about the Bar visits that too with exact time when the time was fixed only between the team members and jail superintendent,” Bashir said.

 He said later Muhammad Abdullah Pandit, vice president of the Bar, reached the spot and took the Bar team away. Nazir Ahmad Ronga described it a conspiracy to eliminate the Bar members.

 “In fact we were told there to flee from the spot otherwise the mob might kill us as has happened in Bihar and then no one would be held accountable for our killing,” he said.

 Ronga said the situation inside the jail is pathetic and it was sole reason the police created barrier and didn’t allowed them in. He said for two hours the SP didn’t bother to come out and tackle the mob of 100 people. Ronga said he would move the High Court and brief it about the situation.

 He said the Bar would demand shifting of detainees from Jammu to Srinagar. He said the protesters were goons assembled and selected by the police.

On Mar 19, Central Jail Jammu Kot Bhalwal authorities have refuted reports that they had prevented meeting of some members of the Bar Association Srinagar with the detenues at the prison. 

As per the press statement, authorities have termed these reports as "baseless" and "far from facts." The jail authorities asserted that they have the highest respect for the High Court and its direction and orders. 

PHOTOJOURNALISTS CONDEMN HARASSMENT

TO BOYCOTT ARMY FUNCTIONS
Mar 15: The Kashmir Press Photographers Association (KPPA) on March 15 condemned the alleged harassment of some media persons by an army officer during a function at Rangreth. 

 The spokesman of the Association, Nisar Ahmad, said the journalists of both electronic and print media had gone to Rangreth on an invitation of the PRO Army to cover the passing out parade of JAKLI there. 

 “At the venue, an officer of (the) Army severely misbehaved with the media persons and hampered their professional work. The said officer used abusive language as a result all the media persons had to return from the venue,” the spokesman said. 

 He said the association convened an emergency meeting and condemned the “rude behavior” of the officer.

“It was unanimously decided that all the photojournalists associated with the KPPA will boycott the army functions till action was not taken against the army officer,” he added.

MOLESTATION BID SPARKS KUPWARA PROTESTS

March 25:An allegedly bid to molest a woman by Rashtriya Rifles troops sparked off massive anti-India protests in this frontier district of north Kashmir on March 25.

The troops of 28-RR posted at Chandigam village attempted to molest a local woman when she was working in her fields outside her village, eyewitnesses said.

They said the troops led by a Major caught Fareeda Begam wife of Nazir Ahmad Sikh and tried to molest her. The woman raised an alarm, catching the attention of some men working in the nearby fields. The people rushed to the spot and rescued the woman from the clutches of the troopers. The troops beat up some men, said the eyewitnesses.

Local MLA Qaisar Jamsheed Lone was addressing a public gathering at Chadigam when the incident occurred.

Later dozens of people rushed to the spot and shouted anti-India and anti-troops slogans. The troopers swung into action and resorted to heavy baton charge.

“Even the village headman was not spared and was beaten to the pulp,” the eyewitnesses told media.

Senior police officials reached the spot and pacified the protesters, assuring them that action would be initiated against the erring soldiers after proper investigation. Ghulam Hassan Dar, the brother of Fareeda, told media, "That is not the first incident of its kind. The troops usually pass derogatory remarks at our daughters and women. Army has adopted our village for developing it as a ‘model village.’ May God save us from them.”  

No police or Army official was available for comment on the incident.

'MISTAKEN IDENTITY’

TROOPS SHOOT DISABLED IN RAJOURI 

 March 17: Troops shot at and injured a deaf and dumb person in Mendhar area of Poonch district on March 17, police sources said.

They said that troopers of 39 Rashtriya Rifles opened fire on a deaf and dumb person Ikhlaq Ahmed son of Lal Din of Kaneta Banola in Chatral area on March 16 night near the 39-RR camp injuring him critically.  

An army spokesman told media that they (troopers) cautioned him to "halt" but when Ikhlaq failed to respond, they opened fire at him. “Troopers cautioned the person thrice and there was no deliberate attempt to fire on him,” the spokesman said.

Army admitted that it was the case of mistaken identity and shifted the injured person to army hospital Rajouri for treatment. An army source said Ikhlaq Ahmed is now out of danger.

Meanwhile the residents of Mendhar have taken serious note of the mistaken identity by army and blamed Ikhlaq was well known to these army men and alleged that they deliberately opened fire. 

General Secretary of Samajwadi Party Muhammad Tariq Khan told media that it was deliberate firing as the disabled person was well known to Army and people of the area.”

He said such incidents either deliberate or accidental would not be tolerated.

TROOPS’ SHELLING LEAVES 40 HOMELESS

Mar 3: The indiscriminate and unprovoked shelling by troops and police after the killing of two militants on March 2,has rendered 40 members of two families homeless. 

 The victims are clueless why their houses were targeted after the gunfight between militants and troops ended. “The troops of 34 Rashtriya Rifles and police fired several mortar shells on the houses of Muhammad Bhat and Aziz Bhat without any provocation as the encounter had already ended,” a local resident told media on the conditions of anonymity fearing reprisal from the soldiers. 

 The residents said the shelling caused extensive damage to the two houses and resulted in a devastating fire, which completely damaged the structures. “Mere suspicion has made 40 family members homeless who have lost everything,” the agitated residents said adding the house owners’ food store containing 500 quintals of food grains was also gutted causing losses worth lakhs. 

 The people further blamed the police and troops of deliberately stopping the fire tenders at a distance and not allowing them to reach on the spot. “After the fire erupted, the fire tenders tried to rush towards the spot, but were stopped by police at Mir Mohalla on the pretext that gunfight was going on,” they said adding that to justify their statement the police fired many bursts of ammunition in the air. The fire tenders, they said reached at the place at 5 PM, four hours after the inferno erupted and gunfight between militants and troops stopped. 

 “We had to lodge strong protest to allow the people and fire tenders to reach on the spot in front of SSP Budgam Ashiq Bukhari who was supervising the operation,” they said adding that it was people’s efforts coupled with the fire service personnel due to which the fire was contained. 

 The people said the troops after the shelling justified their act by saying that they had the information regarding the presence of one more militant in these houses, which later proved out to be hoax. “They destroyed our houses as vengeance and nothing else,” the victims said.  

 About the widow Nasmee, the owner of the house in which the troops and police claimed militants were present, the residents said the woman has four children including a boy who is currently studying at Yateem Trust in Srinagar. “After her one storey house was completely damaged in the gunfight, the lady has lost her senses and is seen moving and wailing inside her devastated house continuously,” they said. 

 Expressing resentment over the role of police during the encounter, one of the youths witnessing the devastation said the police by indulging in such acts are provoking the youths to take up gun again. “If SSP Ashiq Bukhari remained here, things would get bad to worse and will again force us to take up gun,” the youth further said.

 When contacted, defence spokesman Lt Col A K Mathur said, “The allegations are baseless and the inferno started due to fire in hay-stacks during the encounter. A cowshed which was between the target house and other two adjoining houses was also gutted as a result of which fire spread,” he said adding that only upper floor of these two houses were gutted in the incident. He further said the soldiers lifted the cordon and helped people in dousing off the fire. He said the troops didn’t stop the fire tenders.

PEOPLE RECOVER BOFORS SHELLS IN KHUNDRU

March 4: The people of Khundru have again recovered two live shells Bofors and some detonators on March 4. According to a local news agency, the shells were recovered from the house compound of Ghulam Hassan Bhat son of Abdul Rahim Rather of Pahloo Nowgam. 

The bomb disposal squad of police later took away the unexploded shells. Panic has gripped the area after the recovery of these shells. Many unexploded shells were scattered during the fire in ammunition depot in the area on August 11 2007. Another live bofors shell recovered  

March 6: A live Bofors shell was again recovered at Khandroo in south Kashmir. Since the devastating fire in the Field Ordnance Depot (FOD) in August 2007, people of Khandroo and adjoining villages had found a number of exploded shells.

 A police spokesman said a live Bofors shell was recovered at Khandroo. The shell was later handed over to FOD officials.

 March 9: Two Bofors shells and six fuses were recovered from Pahloo village. 

Police said the shells and fuses were scattered and reached the village due to the series of blasts and fire in army's ammunition depot in Khundroo in 2007. 

The shells and fuses were collected from Pahloo with the help of bomb disposal squad and anti sabotage team. The explosive material was handed over to the officials of Khundroo depot.

 March 26:Seven months have passed since the deadly fire blaze took place in the 24 FAD ammunition depots at Khundroo village of Islamabad district, but the villagers of the surrounding areas are still troubled by the explosives that were scattered in the blaze. 

On March 25, a major mishap was averted when one of the locals spotted a live explosive device lying in a graveyard at Ganie Mohalla Khundroo, falling under the jurisdiction of Police Station Achabal. 

The explosive device, which the police sources said was a fuse, was later destroyed on spot by Bomb Disposal Squad. 

The villager who spotted the material said that it was silver colored resembling the shells dispersed during the Khundroo inferno. Eyewitnesses said that as soon as the news of the discovery of live explosive spread across the village, the locals were frightened and most of them left for safer places. There was panic for more than two hours till the bomb disposal squad reached the spot. Gulzar Ahmad Bhat, one of the villagers told media that he does not know how the live explosives are still scattered in the area despite the fact that bomb disposal squad searched the whole area to dispose off the explosives after the blaze in the ammunition depot on August 11, 2007.

“Was then the sanitization programme carried out jointly by Army and police an eye wash for the gullible villagers?” questioned Bhat.   Muhammad Ilyas Beig, Station house officer of police station Achabal said that as soon as the police station was informed about the unattended explosive, he informed the bomb disposal squad, which disposed the material within half an hour..

ABUSED KASHMIR ON US RADAR
STATE DEPTT: CUSTODIAL DEATHS SERIOUS PROBLEM, LACK OF ACCOUNTABILITY CREATES IMPUNITY
March 12: The US State Department has said that human rights abuses by troops continue in Kashmir with a “lack of accountability creating an atmosphere of impunity.

”In its ‘Country Reports on Human Rights Practices -2007’ released on March 11, the State Department has highlighted in detail how the troops indulge in fake encounter killings, custodial disappearances, rapes and other rights abuses across the conflict-ridden state. 

LACK OF ACCOUNTABILITY
 The (Indian) government “generally respected” the rights of its citizens, it said, adding, “However, numerous serious problems remained.” 

“Major problems included extra judicial killings, disappearances, and torture and rape by police and other security forces.” 

“A lack of accountability permeated the government and security forces throughout the country, creating an atmosphere of impunity,” says the report. 

Quoting human rights groups, it says the troops targeted suspected militants and their supporters. “But,” it added, “There was no widely accepted data on the magnitude of extra judicial killings, which included encounter killings and custodial deaths.” 

“For example, according to the Jammu and Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society, 18 cases of custodial killings and extra judicial killings took place during the year. Of those, six cases were under investigation by the local government at year's end. In March, Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad claimed that only five custodial deaths occurred during his eighteen-month tenure and that the overall situation improved considerably with a 95 percent reduction in custodial deaths over the last two years.” 

Referring to the infamous Pathribal incident of April 2000 when troops and the Special Operations Group of police killed five civilians in cold-blood, the State Department said that at the end of 2005, CBI investigation of four army officers, including Senior Superintendent of Police Farooq Khan, was still pending.

The report said the state government did not take action in the February 2006 killings of four children by Army at Bangargund village of Kupwara district. While the NHRC had asked the Jammu and Kashmir government to provide a detailed report of the killing, the government had not done so by year's end, it said.

CUSTODIAL DEATHS
“Custodial deaths, often made to appear as encounter deaths, remained a serious problem, and authorities often delayed prosecutions,” the report said. 

Chief Minister Azad announced that no custodial disappearances occurred in Kashmir during the year. “(However) there were no developments in the May 2006 case of Ghulam Nabi Mir, who disappeared in Pulwama after Rashtriya Rifle (RR) officers allegedly raided his home,” says the State Department report.
TORTURE 
In the chapter “Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman, or Degrading Treatment or Punishment,” the report says in Kashmir torture victims or their relatives reportedly had difficulty filing complaints, as local police allegedly were instructed not to open a case without permission from higher authorities. 

During 2006 the screening committees released 140 persons detained under the Public Safety Act (PSA). During the year, the government did not release any additional detainees, the report says.

In addition, under the (Jammu and Kashmir) Armed Forces Special Powers Act (AFSPA) of 1990, no "prosecution, suit, or other legal proceeding shall be instituted against any person in respect of anything done or purported to be done in exercise of the powers of the act," without the approval of the central government. 

PATTERN OF RAPE
“There was a pattern of rape by paramilitary personnel in Jammu and Kashmir as a means of instilling fear among noncombatants in insurgency-affected areas, but these incidents were not included in NHRC statistics, as the NHRC does not have direct investigative authority over the military,” says the report.

ARBITRARY ARREST 
In April a Working Group on Kashmir appointed by the prime minister also recommended that the act be revoked. The government had not acted on these recommendations by year's end, the report said.

The AFSPA and the Disturbed Areas Act (DAA) remained in effect in the Jammu and Kashmir districts of Kathua, Udhampur, Poonch, Rajouri, Doda, Srinagar, Budgam, Anantnag (Islamabad), Pulwama, Baramulla, and Kupwara. 

DISAPPEARANCES
According to the State Department, there was “virtually no information” about the fate of individuals who disappeared since the beginning of anti-India insurgency in Kashmir.

“There were no reliable figures for disappearances in Jammu and Kashmir during the year. According to Association of Parents of Disappeared Persons (APDP) and other NGOs such as ACHR and SAHRDC, the number of newly reported disappearances decreased compared with the early years of the conflict,” it said.

PASSPORT DELAY
“Unlike in previous years, there were no reports of the government using the issuance of passports or travel documents to restrict travel of separatist leaders in Jammu and Kashmir, says the report. 

“However, citizens from Jammu and Kashmir continued to face extended delays, often up to two years, before the Ministry of External Affairs would issue or renew their passports. Government officials also regularly demanded bribes before issuing passports from Jammu and Kashmir that required special clearances,” it said.

The State Department report also mentioned in detail the sex scandal that rocked Kashmir in 2006. It also blamed militants for “serious abuses, including killing armed forces personnel, police, government officials and civilians.”

5 SOLDIERS GET ARREST WARRANT IN IMAM’S ENCOUNTER DEATH

March 27:A court on March 26, issued arrest warrants against five army personnel, including a Colonel, a Lieutenant Colonel and a 

Major, for killing an imam in a fake encounter in north Kashmir 18 months ago.

Hearing a petition on the fake encounter killing of Moulvi Showkat Ahmad Kataria, principal district and session judge Srinagar, Hennaing Masoodi referred the case to a session court after army failed to respond in choosing between court martial and civil proceedings against its accused personnel. 

The court had dismissed the army petition, which had challenged the jurisdiction of state police in charging the army personnel and had asked the army to choose whether to initiate civil proceedings or go for court martial. 

A special investigative team of police led by DIG Farooq Ahmed on April 12-2007 had charge-sheeted five Army personnel—Col Vikram Singh, Lt Col V K Sharma, Major Rishi, Puran Singh and Satpal Singh, besides five police officials, including then Senior Superintendent of police Ganderbal Hansraj Parihar, his deputy Bahadur Ram, four constables and a civilian. They had been charged with murdering Moulvi Showkat, 27, of Dooligam Nowgam Banihal in a fake encounter.

The victim had been passed off as a Lashker-e-Toiba commander, Abu Zahid of Karachi, Pakistan, and arms and ammunition were claimed recovered from his possession. DNA testing, however, proved that the slain was a civilian, later identified as Moulvi Showkat. Moulvi Showkat, who used to lead prayers at a mosque at Alamgari Bazaar had been whisked away by the troops and killed in cold-blood for reward. 

The court, after perusal of records issued arrest warrant against the five army personnel under 56 APO so that police could have information about their present postings. 

The court also directed police to ensure the presence of other accused including the then SSP Hansraj Parihar on the next date of hearing on April 2.

‘HIZB COMMANDER KILLED IN FAKE ENCOUNTER’

RESIDENT IN AWANTIPORA ALLEGE GUN BATTLE WAS STAGED

March 19: A day after police claimed to have killed a district commander of Hizbul Mujahideen Jehangir Bhat in a fierce gun battle; the locals allege that the militant was killed in a “fake encounter”.

“There was no encounter at all here,” a local, Manzoor Ahmad said. Ahmad was among four people who were forcibly taken by the police task force search party along with them during the siege. 

“The SoG and Rashtriya Rifles soldiers besieged Jamia Masjid mohalla on March 18 midnight. Later they knocked my door in the morning at around 6: 00 am. They ordered me to escort them for house-to-house searches. I followed” he added.

Ahmad said they have no specific intelligence inputs about the hiding militant. “Our mohalla comprises of 15 houses and they asked me to search each of them. As we reached Hamid-u-ullah Bhatt’s house, I entered in a routine. I found nothing in the house,” Ahmad said.

“However, for unknown reasons they told me to search the house thrice. I did and found the same result,” he added.

Police on March 18,said that the Hizb commander Chota Jehangir, was hiding in the house of Hamid-ullah Bhat at Dogripora, Awantipora. They said he was subsequently killed there during the ensuing gun battle.

Another person, Ghulam Nabi who was forcibly taken by the troopers for searches said, “As Manzoor was checking the house, Bhat came out of the house and sat in his courtyard. Later task force picked him up and they took him to unknown place. We do not know what happened to him.” adding “he is still in the police custody.” 

Later, the troopers ordered villagers to assemble outside their mohalla in a nearby ground along with their children and women. 

“We did that,” Ghulam Nabi said. “Nobody was left back in our locality. They told us that encounter would start in minutes”. The locals claimed that after assembling at 9:55 am in the ground, there was a huge explosion that shattered whole area at 10:00 am.

“Actually task force people tied RDX with the Hamid-u-ullah Bhat’s house. After they blew it up, the house was completely razed to ground along with other three houses,” Ghulam Nabi informed.

“However, there was no encounter as police claims. The RR and Task force people fired five rounds in the air and rest nothing happened. The militant did not retaliate,” he added.

Another resident, Ashiq Hussain said after assembling in the ground, it took fraction of minutes for the whole thing to end.

“When we dispersed and were arriving from the ground, the troopers had kept the body of militant on the road,” he said. “It was really surprising that there were no stains of blood on the way up to house from where body was lifted”.

Hussein said the things became obscure after they reached back into the locality.    

“The explosion has reduced three houses to rubbles. It had also broken windowpanes of neighboring houses,” adding, “It was very strange to see the militants body un-mutilated. The militant was shot in the head and hip. Rest, the body was perfect,”

Hussein said a dead cow was also found in the debris from where the militant body was recovered.

“The cow was completely torn into shreds. I do not know how body of militant came out unharmed,” adding, “There was no eyewitness left in the village to notice the incident”.

Afterwards, the locals dug out the gun of militant from the debris. They claimed it was in a gunny bag. 

“I f they could recover the body of the militant from debris, why not then his gun,” a villager, Rafiq Ahmad grumbled.

Contrary to that, police claimed they have recovered two AK rifles, one pistol, two RPG rounds, 56 Ak rounds, and three pistol rounds from the militant.   

Four residents, Manzoor Ahmad, Ghulam Nabi, Aijaz Ahmad and Muhammad Abbas alleged they were taken forcibly by task force for house searches and thereby used as human shields. They said troopers pushed them inside the house to take stock of situation before they finally enter.

NCM FIGHTS FOR RELEASE OF SOPORE YOUTH

March 6: The National Commission of Minorities (NCM) is running from pillar to post in a bid to help free a Kashmiri man —labelled a militant by the Delhi police— lodged in the capital’s high-security Tihar Prison for the last 18 months.

Pervez Ahmed Radoo, a resident of Sopore town of north Kashmir’s Baramulla district, was arrested on October 15, 2006 from Azadpur Mandi of Delhi, police says.

Police claims he was caught with “three kg of RDX and Rs. 10 lakh as hawala money along with other incriminating evidence.” 

But Pervez’s father, Sanaullah Radoo says Pervez has been framed. “Pervez was picked up by the Special Cell on September 12, 2006, from the Indira Gandhi Airport on his way to Pune University from his hometown Srinagar to complete his PhD in Zoology,” he said. 

For over a month, Sanaullah was clueless about Pervez’s whereabouts. But then he read in the newspapers that a Kashmiri militant—his youngest son — had been nabbed in Delhi with explosives in October. 

“He should be completing his research on a rice species in Kashmir Valley from Modern college in Pune. Instead, he is inside prison facing charges of terrorism. The police are lying,” cries Sanaullah.

Sanaullah, a college principal in Sopore, had told the NCM about his son’s case in December 2007, requesting them to intervene. The NCM had then asked the Delhi Police to file their reply in the case. DCP (special Cell) Alok Kumar, wrote to the NCM on February 12, confirming Pervez’s alleged involvement in militant activities, stating, “Pervez Ahmed Radoo alias Raju is an active JeM member, who used to ferry arms, ammunition, explosives and money for the banned terrorist outfit to the different parts of India.” 

“We had sought a fair trial and want to know if the accused is in a position to defend himself or not. We also want to know if he has been provided an able prosecution to defend his case,” said NCM chairperson Mohammed Shafi Qureshi. Pervez has been writing a jail diary, which, through his father, has now reached the NCM. 

It reveals the torture he faced at the hands of the Delhi cops, desperate to make him Confess to a crime he didn’t commit. The diary actually leaves gaps between the police version and what the accused has to say, alleging the ordeal he has gone through for refusing to confess.

“I was stripped naked, given electric shocks, hung upside down and beaten till I lost consciousness. Failing to bear the pain and police atrocities at the special cell headquarters in Lodhi Colony, I offered to confess and that is when they decided to produce me in the court, almost a month later. I was later produced before the media as a Special Cell prime catch,”Pervez writes.

Qureshi said, “It’s hard to believe the police version when one sees the clean chits given by the police superintendent and additional district magistrate of Sopore, his native town, and from the local resident welfare association (RWA).

 Most importantly, the certificate given by Spice jet for the same day shows him as boarding the plane for Delhi from Srinagar and then also bound to travel further to Pune. These facts have been completely  ignored by the Special Cell.”

BODY OF MISSING YOUTH FOUND

March 31:Body of 40 year, Mehmood Teedwa of Thune Kangan who had reportedly gone missing, was discovered near power canal Panzin 2 km from Kangan on March 30 evening.


The deceased according to the family sources had been working as coolie in Soura for many years and had returned only two days before his death.


Mehmood’s body according to police was found near Power canal which is at a distance of about 8 kms from his home and his family members had lodged a missing report 2 days before in police station Kangan.


Police have registered a case under FIR no.74/08 and started the investigations.

TROOPS IN JK TO GET CHILLY LADEN LETHAL GRENADES

March 30:The troops deployed in Jammu and Kashmir are getting new anti-thermal smoke grenades filled with high concentration of red chilly and pepper, news agency PTI reported.

The grenades would be used against insurgents in Jammu and Kashmir, it added. The 81-mm caliber grenades, which have been developed by the Defence Research and Development Organization, have completed field trials and contain red phosphorus and chilly and pepper, the agency quoting defence sources said.

“The field trials have been completed with success in several areas and along the Line of Control. The grenades would be successful in forcing out militants from their hideouts,” they said. The grenades have concentrated extract of naturally occurring red chilly and pepper, besides phosphorus and explosive material, they said. As the grenades burst, the extract and explosive material get dispersed in the atmosphere giving acute irritation to the throat and skin.

The grenade material also chokes the respiratory tract causing difficulty in breathing. It will also be possible to create a smoke screen with the grenade burst, the sources said.

Earlier special combat units have been issued Israel made Tavor rifles designed for close range urban warfare. The rifle which costs around US $6500 is one of the most modern assault rifles available in the world and uses the compact Bull pup design with an improved hit accuracy.

It accommodates a 30 round magazine and sustains a rate of fire of 750 - 900 rounds per minute.

TROOPS KILL CIVILIANS AND PASS THEM OFF AS MILITANTS: SHRC

March 4: Troops as well as police kill an innocent civilian and then file a case against the slain labeling him as a militant, the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) has said.

In its annual report (for 2006-07), the SHRC has said that in some cases it has been observed that troops go to the police station concerned, file FIR, dubbing the killed person(s) as militant(s) shot dead by them “because the militants opened fire on them.” 

“Generally local police after registering the case on behalf of the troops do not investigate the (troops claim) and do not generally try to see the ground reality,” says the report.

“The local police in such circumstances feel helpless and they even generally refuse to register the case against troops when the next of kin of the deceased approach them. It is as such suggested that there should be accountability and strictly vigilance of the armed and police forces which will certainly curtail the human rights violations.”

Asking the government to take the recommendations of the commission seriously, the report said that vigilance cells of both the troops as well as police should look into the matter whenever observations or remarks are passed against them. “It is important that action is taken against such troopers or police personnel so that some accountability is brought about in their working,” the report added.

It said the SHRC is “disappointed to place on record that its entire recommendations are blatantly rejected by the government.” It adds that government sends the recommendations of SHRC to the Deputy Commissioner concerned who forwards it to the tehsildar for necessary action. “But till date these recommendations are rejected by the revenue officers, though the recommendations made by the commission are well reasoned.” 

The report adds: “The government may differ on some of the recommendations of the commission, but at the same time it cannot reject all the recommendations. The Deputy Commissioner cannot sit over the recommendations of the commission as the same is being headed by the retired judge of the High Court.”

From April 1, 2006 and March 31, 2007, the SHRC said it registered 366 complaints while 460 complaints were disposed off during the period. 

Fifteen cases of custodial killing were filed during the period while the number of disappearance cases filed during were 59, the report said.

The report said that 22 cases relating to custodial deaths were disposed off during April 1, 2006 and March 31, 2007, while as the number of cases pertaining to custodial disappearance disposed off during the same period are 75. Since its inception in 1997, the commission has registered 3597 cases up to March 31, 2007, the report added.

Out of the cases registered at the SHRC, 504 pertain to custodial disappearance while the number of cases relating to custodial killings is 185. The commission has decided 245 disappearance cases and 51 custodial death cases during the same period, the report said.

CENTRAL JAIL DETAINEES LIVE IN MISERABLE CONDITION: SHRC

Mar 5: The State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) has highlighted, in its annual report, the hardships faced by the detainees at Srinagar’s Central Jail.

While referring to the visit of its (then) chairperson M Y Kawoos to the Central Jail, the report says the detainees complained they are not produced in the courts on the date of their hearing. The under-trials are produced in the courts after three, four or six months, causing delay in perusal of their cases.

The report while quoting the detainees says the inmate’s protest over the fact that under-trial cases are being treated as ordinary cases in courts, when and if produced before concerned courts, they return without any progress made in the proceedings. 

It adds that the chief justice of the High Court should take a note of the same and issue directions to the sub-ordinate courts to take under-trial cases on priority basis and examine the witnesses expeditiously without fail. 

“It is alarming to know that the under-trials who are facing trial under minor crimes are in the jail for more than nine months, despite the fact that such cases can ordinarily be disposed of by the Executive Magistrates within very short span of time,” the report says. “Reason for the whole episode is according to them that escort is not being provided in the Central Jail to produce them before the courts on the due dates of hearing.” 

The report says the inmates belonging to far-flung areas in Kupwara and Islamabad districts lodged at the Central Jail face tremendous hardships once their cases are listed in their respective district courts. 

“The under-trials of these two districts have to wait for the escort vehicle from their home districts and they are produced in courts only after the escort vehicles reach them which take a lot of time and on some occasions they are not able to present themselves in the court,” it adds. 

Referring to the additional number of people lodged at the jail, the report says that the jail building has been constructed to house 320 inmates only, but right now 508 inmates are lodged there. “It itself speaks how the inmates of jail are living in a miserable condition in the said old barracks,” the report adds.

“There is no record of the jail building in which century it has been constructed. At least the building is not less than 125 years old...It is itself a human right violation to put an inmate in the jail which was fit for the people living more than 100 years before,” the report says.

The report while referring to the medical facilities being provided to jail inmates says that physician specialist and psychiatrist are the necessary requirements of the jail inmates. 

Funds for the medicine need to be enhanced so as to meet the requirements of ailing and old inmates of the jail. Even X–Ray and ECG machines should also be provided in the jail, because in general the health condition of the jail inmates deteriorates day by day. It is also suggested that a ‘mobile hospital’ should visit the jail once in two weeks at least, the report adds.

POLICE SHOULD VERIFY KILL CLAIMS OF TROOPS: SHRC
March 15:The SHRC in its annual report for 2006-07 has pulled up police for not investigating cases in which civilians are killed in custody by the troops and then labeled as militants. 

 “There are cases in which security forces, as generally observed, go to police stations concerned, file FIRs, and label innocent persons as militants,” the report says. 

 The report says, “Local police after registering the cases on behalf of the Army do not investigate the case and do not generally try to see the ground reality. Local police in such circumstances feel themselves helpless. And thy even generally refuse to register cases against security forces when the families of the deceased approach them.” 

 The Commission has suggested strict vigilance and accountability of the armed and police forces “to curtail the human rights violations.”

SHRC ASKS GOVERNMENT TO PROSECUTE ACCUSED MAJOR, 4 SOLDIERS

CUSTODIAL MURDER OF KUPWARA CIVILIAN IN 1997

 Mar 15: The State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) on March 15 recommended to the state government to prosecute an army Major and four other soldiers, charged with the custodial murder of a civilian of Kupwara district in 1997.

 Police records showed Bashir Ahmad Shah son of Khazir Muhammad of Kupwara district as a militant who was killed in a gunfight with troops in 1997. Going by the police records he would have gone into the turbulent history of Kashmir as a militant who died fighting Indian soldiers. But a petition filed by the family in the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) in 2001 turned the situation around. 

 On 17 July 1997 the troops of 28 Rashtriya Rifles arrested Bashir Ahmad and two other persons during a cordon-and-search operation in Dangiwachi Rafiabad in Varmul district. The troops later handed over the Bashir’s body to his family. 

 For three years Bashir’s brother, Abdul Majeed Shah, tried to find out why his brother was murdered. In 2001, he filed a petition in the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) charging the troops with custodial murder of his brother. 

 The Commission directed the police to file a report. The then inspector general of police, Kashmir Zone, in his report on August 24, 2001 repeated, “Bashir Ahmad was a militant killed in counter-insurgency operation in Dalri forests.” 

 In 2007, the Commission again directed the director general of police (DGP) to file his report on the case. “In this connection, the reinvestigation of the case has been completed and the case has been closed, as challan against the Major Ganpati and four soldiers of 28 RR has been submitted,” the DGP stated in the report. 

 The acting chairperson of the SHRC, Habibullah Bhat, in his judgment on March 15 observed, “The report of the DGP has contradicted the earlier report of the IGP. This commission is justified in accepting the report of the DGP, which has substantiated the custodial killing of the petioner’s brother after he was lifted during a crackdown.” 

 “The Commission has examined the matter at depth. The record has clearly established that the personnel of 28 RR during search operation has lifted Bashir Ahmad and subsequently killed him. Later a report was lodged by the 28 RR justifying the death of the civilian during counter insurgency operations,” the judgment said. 

 The ruling further says, “The petioner’s case is therefore accepted as genuine, as he has sufficiently proved that his brother was killed in custody.” 

 The commission has recommended the government that it should “expeditiously prosecute the challan against the accused Major and his four associates.” The Commission also directed the state to “pay Rs 2 lakh as compensation to Bashir’s brother.”
4 COPS INDICTED FOR 2006 CUSTODIAL KILLING

March 19: The State Human Rights Commission indicted four police personnel including an assistant sub-inspector for the alleged custodial killing of a man in Udhampur district two years ago.

Taking cognizance of the petition filed by the victim's mother, acting chairman of SHRC Habibullah Bhat ordered registration of a murder case against the four - ASI Lakhpat Rai, head constable Mohammad Iqbal, selection grade constable Harnarayan Singh and woman constable Harmeet Kaur.

Under trial Mubarak Hussain died while being escorted from Udhampur jail to a court in Reasi on June 30, 2006, his mother Ramzana Bi said in her petition.

The Commission rejected the police version that Hussain was killed while trying to escape and also recommended to the state government an ex-gratia of Rs one lakh for the victim's family.

In a separate order relating to a custody killing case of 2005, it last week ordered prosecution of six policemen, including an SHO, for allegedly torturing a person in police custody in Doda district leading to his death.

It directed the state police to lodge a case under section 302 (murder) of Ranbir Penal Code against them and slapped a fine of Rs 50,000 on the SHO, Inspector Mohan Singh, to be given to Rafia Begum, the wife of the victim Mustaq Ahmed. PTI
· 2 KILLED, 5 INJURED IN MYSTERIOUS BLAST

March 5:Seven persons were injured in a mysterious explosion that took place in a mysterious explosion that took place in the house of Abdul Hamid Nengroo son of Abdul Rashid of Reshinagri Shopian on March 4 evening, the police spokesman said.


The injured were removed to hospital where wife of Nengroo, Jana (65) and his relative Bashir Ahmad Wagay son of Ghulam Qadir of Quil Kulgam succumbed to                  their injuries.


 “Police has registered a case and has taken up to investigations,” the spokesman said.

· 3 KILLED, 5 HURT IN EXPLOSION

March 7: Three members of a family, including two minor girls, were killed and five injured in a grenade blast in Jammu’s Reasi district Jammu on the night of March 6 night, police said on March 7. 


The explosion occurred at the house of Mushtaq Ahmed, a Village Defence Committee member, in Suntop hamlet in Arnas block of Reasi district, Udhampur-Reasi range Deputy Inspector-General of Police Alok Puri said.

He said police were investigating whether militants hurled the grenade or it was an accidental explosion.


An elderly man and his two grand daughters were killed and five other members of the family were injured in the blast, police officials said.


A police team had been rushed to spot and were taking the injured to hospital, Puri said. The dead were identified as Habibullah (76), Nazia (9), and Nagina (14).  

· 3 ARMY JAWANS INJURED IN EXPLOSION 

Mar 11: Three army jawans, including two Non-Commissioned Officers (NCOs), were injured in an explosion at Sunjawan camp area in Jammu on the city outskirts on March 10.


Official sources said that a flamethrower reportedly exploded in the Army's Sunjawan camp area while cleaning it.


The injured, identified as Havildar P L Lokesh, Lance Naik Ravi Shankar and Sepoy Cherry, were immediately shifted to the Military Hospital, Satwari.

· LANDMINE INJURES TROOPER AT LOC

Mar 12:A trooper of Paramilitary Border Security Force was injured when he stepped on a landmine near the line of control (LOC) in Keran sector of North Kashmir’s kupwara district.


“Hawaldar Chandrapal Raina of 33 Bn BSF was injured when a mine went off in the mine field near LoC at Bore Keran in Kupwara,” police said. The injured was removed to hospital, they added.


The Line of Control dividing Jammu and Kashmir is heavily mined on the Indian side making agriculture or any other economic activity impossible besides endangering human lives and livestock.

· BSF JAWANS INJURED IN GRENADE EXPLOSION

Mar 15:A Border Security Force (BSF) jawan sustained injuries in an accidental grenade blast during the practice session at firing range Kaleeth in Akhnoor Tehsil of Jammu district on March 15.


The injured jawan has been identified as Mahesh Prasad son of Lacha Ram of Larkana.


Police reports said that he sustained splinter injury when a grenade exploded during the practice session at firing range Kaleeth on March 15.


He was admitted to the GMC hospital for treatment.

· EXPLOSIVE FOUND IN SCHOOL

March 20:An explosive was found in the premises of a school in Anantnag district, police said.


The explosive found in Hanief school in Nowgam area created panic among students and teachers, police said adding the bomb disposal squad later destroyed it.

· CRPF TROOPER INJURED  

March 24: A CRPF trooper was injured when his rifle went off accidentally while he was returning from search operation from Kahpati Mohalla Tral, Awantipora. The trooper identified as constable Ravi Chandran of 185 BN received the bullet in his right foot.

· CAPT AMONG 2 INJURED IN BLAST
Mar 22: Two Army personnel, including a Captain, suffered minor injuries when a grenade accidentally exploded in Nowshera area of district Rajouri official sources said. The grenade exploded in a firing range at Gadhi in Nowshera area of the border district. Injured Army personnel have been hospitalised. Investigations have been ordered in the grenade explosion.

· 1 KILLED IN EXPLOSION

Mar 29:A person identified as Mehdi Bashir son of Bashir Ahmad Malik of Mumkak Sopur was fiddling with a hand grenade, which exploded, killing him on the spot. However, Bashir Ahmad Malik, father of the 25-year-old deceased youth, said the grenade was thrown in from a window where Mehadi was sitting and went off with a big explosion.


Police has registered a case. 

· IED FOUND AT SRINAGAR-BARAMULLA HIGHWAY

Mar 30: A 2.5 kg Improvised Explosive Device (IED) was found at the periphery of the Srinagar-Baramulla highway near Govt Girls Higher Secondary School, Baramulla on March 30.The IED experts of Army and Police, who were rushed to the spot neutralized the device after intense efforts. The vehicular movement on the road remained suspended for two hours.

· CHILD MISSING IN LANGATE 
March 4: An 11-year-old child of Langate, Handwara, is missing for the past two days, worrying his parents. According to a local news agency, one Ishtiyaq Manzoor son of Manzoor Ahmad of Gunpora Langate is missing since March 2 after he left his house.

Ishtiyaq left the house after playing with his friends in the courtyard. His disappearance has worried his parents, who have lodged a missing report in the local police station. Police claimed they have initiated an investigation.

· SOURA PERSON MISSING.

March 6:An Auto driver from Soura is missing allegedly in the custody of Army from last fifteen days, a local new agency said on March 5.

Quoting family members of the Auto driver, the news agency said, Zahoor Ahmad Dar son of Muhammad Shafi Dar was picked up by the troops of 30 Rashtriya Rifles for possessing an outdated identity card at Mawar Handwara where he had gone to visit some of his relatives.

"On visiting the camp, I was told that Major is not here and I had to return disappointing.

He is the lone bread earner of the family and has no links with militants", Dar’s mother told news agency.

When contacted, the news agency added, commanding officer of Rashtriya Rifles unit, MS Bala denied any such arrest.

· FAMILIES WORRIED ABOUT KIN'S WHEREABOUTS
March 6: The families of three persons belonging to Parktashlu Kulgam who were called up by police and later handed over to CIK wing have expressed concern over their safety.

The parents of Sajjad Ahmad Khanday, Younis Ahmad Ahanger and Ashiq Hussain Dar told media that the whereabouts of their kin are still unknown. They urged Police higher authorities to take immediate action in this regard.

· MAN GOES MISSNG
March 9:Farooq Ahmad Sheikh son of Ghulam Qadir Sheikh, went missing from his fields in Sopore on March 9, 2008 “ he is missing allegedly in the custody of police” the family said,” We lodged a missing report in the Sopur police station. However later we learnt that some policemen in civvies had arrested Farooq. We fear the policemen have killed him in custody. Now the policemen are cooking up a story that he drowned in a stream,” his parents told reporters. However the body of Farooq was fished out on March 27.

· 15-YEAR OLD BOY OF NOWHATTA MISSING
March 14: Family of a 15-year-old boy of Nowhatta has expressed apprehensions over his sudden disappearance. According to a local news agency Harris Ahmad Kawoosa son of Mushtaq Ahmad Kawoosa of Ranga Hamam, Nowhatta went missing on March 12. Harris, a class 11th student of government higher secondary school, didn’t return home from school. 

 They urged the higher officials of the police department to trace him.  

· 3 YOUTH GO MISSING
March 15: Three youth have been missing from their respective residence sine last few days.

Police reports said that two teenagers identified as Mohammad Israr Ahmad, 18 son of Dil Mohammad of Fatehpur presently residing at Rajouri has been reportedly missing from Muradabad Sumbli and Jondwer Singh, 17,son of Kuldeep Singh r/o Kansar in Doda district has reportedly been missing since March 4,2008 from his home.

Similarly, a youth identified as Satish Kumar, 24,of Miran Sahib presently residing at Pamposh colony Janipur has been reportedly missing since February 15,2008.

Police have taken cognizance and efforts are in progress to trace out them immediately. All the police stations have been alerted regarding the missing persons. 

· PROTESTS IN BUDGAM  
March 17: The disappearance of a man in Pakharpora in Budgam district triggered massive demonstrations on March 17. 

A local news agency said that Ghulam Mohiuddin Bhat son of Abdul Ahad went missing three days ago. Police has lodged a missing report. However the whereabouts of the missing person are still unknown. People staged demonstrations demanding his whereabouts.  

· MAN GOES MISSING
 Mar 18: A servant has gone missing from Talab Khitikan since March 12.

Police said that servant Showkat son of Shabir Choudhary residence of Paloura, who had been working at the house of Raja Begum, wife of Abdul Salam residence of Talab Khitkan has been reportedly missing since March 12, 2008.

Police has taken cognizance and efforts are on to trace out him immediately. “Situation is uneasy and we need to keep a watch.” The IGP said the security arrangements have been revised.


· 5 TROOPERS KILLED IN JK SINCE JAN: DEFENCE MINISTER

 New Delhi, March 03: Five troopers have been killed in Jammu and Kashmir in 2008 in militancy related incidents in Jammu and Kashmir, Five troopers were killed and eight others injured in Jammu and Kashmir in 2008 till February 27 in different incidents, Defence Minister A K Antony said 

In 2007, a total number of 83 soldiers were killed in Jammu and Kashmir while 89 were killed in 2006 and 136 in 2005. 

· 33 MILITANTS KILLED IN 2 MONTHS: POLICE 
March 7: Police and army have killed 33 militants including 16 foreigners and arrested 100 of them during the first two months this year, a local news agency said

 Quoting police sources, the news agency said the police and trooped killed 13 militants including eight foreigners during encounters in January.

During the same period, the police and troops also arrested 70 militants also comprising 15 over ground workers (OGWs). In the month, unidentified gunmen also killed 3 persons and wounded a man. January also witnessed 15 incidents of firing during which an SPO was killed and two others were wounded.

 
In the month of February, 20 militants including 11 foreigners were killed in different encounters. During the period, 34 militants including 12 OGWs were also arrested and 10 encounters took place in which two soldiers were killed and three wounded.  

· MILITANCY STILL ALIVE IN JK: ARMY  

March 10: Asserting that militancy in Jammu and Kashmir has not ended, General officer Commanding 15 Corps Lt General Mukesh Sabarwal on March 10 said that the infiltration might escalate in coming days with the advent of summer season.       

The GoC said that there has been considerable decline in militancy related incidents in the state, but he maintained, “ Militancy has not ended,” Sabharwal told reporters here in north Kashmir.

Sabharwal said that there are about 500 to 600 militants are still active here and these statistics are similar to the information of different security agencies.

“Infiltration is on, and in coming days the bids may increase as the weather improves,” the GoC said. 

However, Sabharwal said that Army is “well equipped” to meet any challenge. “Army has framed a strategy to prevent the infiltration bids. 

Besides troops will intensify the operations against militants present within the Valley,” the GOC said.   

 He said that “Infrastructure across border is still intact and militants are getting help and arms from across the border.” 

  While referring to the troop-cut from the Valley, Sabharwal said, “This is a political decision. Our work is to end violence and bring peace ad prosperity in state,” 

He said that human rights violations are intolerable and stern action would be taken against guilty by troops. He said that after going through different aspects it seems that there has been considerable decrease in encounters apart from grenade throws. “But militants are still active in valley,” he said

· INFILTRATION DOWN BY 61% SINCE 2003: Jaiswal   
 March 18: The infiltration in Jammu and Kashmir has gone down by 61.03 per cent since 2003, the Lok Sabha was told on March 18.

In a written reply to a question in the Lok Sabha, Union Minister of State for Home Affairs, Sriprakash Jaiswal on March 18 said that the infiltration has considerably gone down from 2003.

Giving details of the “infiltration in Jammu and Kashmir from across the border” for the past five years, Jaiswal said, “A total of 1373 people infiltrated from across the border in 2003, which went down to 537 in 2004. In 2005 the infiltration number rose again to 597 only to fall again in 2006 in 573. Last year (2007) the infiltration numbers fell to 535,” he told the lower house of the India bicameral parliament.”

The minister said that no infiltrator had been apprehended while infiltrating into the State during the current year (2008) up to January.

“The ever changing infiltration routes, construction of border fencing, improved technology, weapons and equipment for troops, improved intelligence and operational coordination and synergizing intelligence flow to check infiltration and pro-active action against militants within the State is all being looked into,” the minister added.  

· HUMAN RIGHTS VIOLATIONS HAVE DECREASED, IMMORALITY INCREASED: IGP 
 Mar 18: Stating that human rights violations have come down drastically over the last few years, Inspector General of Police (IGP) Kashmir, S M Sahai, on March 18 said that some youth believe that they can get their demands fulfilled through gun.

“Over the past few years there has been a positive change in the situation in Kashmir valley and very few incidents of human rights violations have taken place during this time.

 There is a disturbing trend emerging and that some youth in the Kashmir valley are resorting to violence so that their demands are fulfilled. These people believe that once they take up to arms they would be able to influence the people at helm resulting in fulfillment of their demands,” said Sahai while speaking at the valedictory function of the two-day seminar organized by All India Centre for Urban and Rural Development (AICURD). Stating that codes cannot be followed during a conflict situation, the IGP said. 

 Sahai admitted that police action has been unwarranted on some occasions and said that police is the law implementing agency in the state. He added that at times police are forced to take extraordinary measures since some people take law in their hands.

“Law is law and it has to be followed by each and every body. We have to ensure the laws passed by the legislature are enforced in the right spirit. Aberrations have taken place in the past, but that does not mean that police has not done anything for the people. Let me tell you that police actions are not unaccounted and in the recent past we have taken action against the cops as well as officers who have taken law in their own hands,” said the IGP Kashmir.

The IGP admitted that there has been 85% reduction in civilian deaths in past few years. Sahai also claimed a reduction of 75% in grenade blasts.

· POLICE COMMITTED TO TACKLE MILITANCY: DGP
March 24:The DGP reiterated that JK police is committed to tackle militancy and protect the lives and properties of the citizens to help restoration of peace in the state Khoda, while reflecting on police performance in tackling militancy said that 15 police and other security personnel sacrificed their lives while killing 68 militants including some commanders during the current year, so far. Last year during the same period, 31 police personnel and security forces lost their lives while eliminating 58 militants, he added. 

 This year 14 civilians were killed up to March 15, all of them by militants. The civilians killed for the same period during last year in militancy violence was 31, Khoda said.

· ENOUGH MILITANTS PRESENT TO CREATE TROUBLE IN CITY: IG CRPF
March 25:  Inspector General, CRPF, SK Jain on March 25, said there are “enough militants” present in the Valley to create trouble in Srinagar city and things would “heat up as the summer and elections approach.” “Definitely there are enough numbers (of militants) present in the Valley to create trouble in Srinagar city,” the IGP told reporters on the sidelines of CRPF’s “civic action program” in Jawahir Nagar locality.

 Reacting to the recent flyover blast and the Tailbal encounter incidents in the summer capital, the IGP said, “The situation is definitely uneasy.” He said “the number of inputs indicate that militants and their supporters from outside (Srinagar) other towns have been tasked to carry out certain attacks in Srinagar.” “We’ve inputs coming that militants may try to disrupt peace in Srinagar.” Sinha said the militant targets would be forces. “Their hits will be on the forces… But we are ready to fight any of their strategies.” The CRPF’s Valley chief termed the killing of the LeT Divisional Commander in Tailbal on the outskirts of Srinagar as “big achievement”. He said the militant attacks could affect the Tourist season stating that such incidents send an “alarming signal” outside the Valley. “Situation is uneasy and we need to keep a watch.” The IGP said the security arrangements have been revised.


· CRPF JAWAN COMMITS SUICIDE:
Mar 4: A CRPF jawan namely Mahaveer Singh of 137 battalion of CRPF, posted at Panchayat Bhawan at Zakoora in the outskirts of the city allegedly committed suicide by shooting himself with his service rifle police said on march 5. Police is investigating the case.

· JAWAN COMMITS SUICIDE
Mar 26: An Army jawan, posted with the city-based unit of the Signals Regiment in Jammu, allegedly committed suicide by shooting himself on duty .The soldier, identified as Signalman Manish Kumar, 23, resident of Haridwar Uttar Pradesh shot himself with his service.

· SOLDIER COMMITS SUICIDE

Mar 27: A soldier committed suicide by shooting himself with his service rifle at an army camp in Jammu. The deceased has been identified as Munesh Kumar. Police is investigating the case.

Mar 1: Unidentified gunmen shot at and critically wounded Riyaz Ahmad War s/o Ghulam Muhammad of Warpora Sopur near Jamia Masjid Warpora, Baramulla. The deceased later succumbed to injuries he was a signboard painter.

Mar 2: Police and army belonging to 34-Rashtriya Rifles during an encounter at Chewdara area in district Budgam killed two militants belonging to Al-Badr outfit The slain militants were later identified as Janbaaz Khan s/o Ghulam Ahmed Khan of Kotli Dak Mohalla, Pakistan Administered Kashmir (PAK) and Imtiyaz Ahmed Dar alias Janbaz s/o Ghulam Ahmed Dar of Cherpora Beerwah.

Mar 3: A Pakistani intruder identified as Sayeed Sahani Raja son of Sayeed Sanwar Hussain of village Chherawali district Ahmadabad, Gujranwala Punjab was gunned down by Border Security Force (BSF) jawans in Pargwal sector of tehsil Akhnoor when he was trying to enter Indian Territory.

Mar 4: Militants gunned down Nasir Hussain son of Bahadur Wani R/o Nowgam Marwah who was a surrendered militant at Masjid Mohalla in Nowgam area of Marwah in Kishtwar district. Police said a militant fired at him from close range at Masjid Mohalla when he was going to local mosque for offering prayers. Two militants of the Lashker-e-Toiba outfit were killed in an overnight encounter with joint party of police and troops at Wodinar, Argam in Bandipora. Officials identified the slain militants as Abu Abdullah alias Mohammed Salim of district Chobra, Laba Pakistan and Abu Imad. While as two militants were killed with police and army at Pethwudar village in frontier Kupwara district's Handwara town. The cops claimed to have identified one of the two militants as Dilawar Khan alias Badri of PaK. The identity of other slain militant was not yet ascertained. Meanwhile, two civilians including a woman died and five others were injured in a mysterious blast in south Kashmir’s Shopian district. A CRPF jawan namely Mahaveer Singh of 137 battalion of CRPF, posted at Panchayat Bhawan at Zakoora committed suicide by shooting himself with his service rifle.

Mar 5:The body of one Jagmal Singh, 50, S/o Buta Ram R/o Admorth, Ellora, Rajasthan, was found dead in a shop at Badamibagh Army Cantonment area where he was working as a salesman. He was found dead under suspicious circumstances.

Mar 6: Three members of a family, including two minor girls, were killed and five injured in a grenade blast in Jammu’s Reasi district Jammu on the night of March 6, police said on March 7.The explosion occurred at the house of Mushtaq Ahmed, a Village Defence Committee member (VDC), in Suntop hamlet in Arnas block of Reasi district, Udhampur-Reasi range Deputy Inspector-General of Police Alok Puri said. The dead were identified as Habibullah (76), Nazia (9), and Nagina (14).

Mar 7: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of state.

Mar 8: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of state.

Mar 9: A tehsil commander of Hizbul Mujahideen outfit namely Kasim Gujjar alias Babbar was killed in a gun battle with troops in Kuchall area of Chatru tehsil in Kishtwar district on March 9 Police said.

Mar10: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

Mar 11: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

Mar 12: Army and Police have killed one LeT militant in a gunbattle at Rampore, in Watlab-Botengo belt on Sopore-Bandipore road. The identity of deceased was not ascertained. Meanwhile, a soldier was injured when militants attacked a patrol party of troops at Reshinand Yadel Gali Woder Bala, Kupwara on March 12 night.

Mar 13: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley

Mar 14: No incident of violence was reported from any part of the valley

Mar 15: A trooper of the Border Security Force (BSF) sustained injuries when a grenade exploded during a practice session at Akhnoor in Jammu, police said. The trooper was identified as Mahesh Prasad, son of Lacha Ram of Larkana.

Mar 16: The chief of Lashker-e-Toiba militant outfit namely Hafiz Nasir alias Hafiz Hamza alias Hafiz Hyder of Pakistan and two soldiers including a Lt.Colonel B.Kadamb and the soldier, Pradeep Kumar, were killed in a fierce encounter in the gunfight at Chiltoora village of Sopur area. While a policeman and CRPF jawan sustained injuries during the operation. Meanwhile, suspected militant’s hurled two hand grenades towards the house of Mohammad Amin, a National Conference councillor at Bandipore. The grenades, however, missed the target and exploded at a distance causing no damage. In another incident, troopers of 39 Rashtriya Rifles opened fire on a deaf and dumb person Ikhlaq Ahmed son of Lal Din of Kaneta Banola in Chatral area on March 16 night near the 39-RR camp injuring him critically.

Mar 17: No incident of violence reported from any part of the state.

Mar 18: In a joint operation, Police and Army claimed that they have killed Hizbul Mujahideen's "District Commander" at Dogripora in Awantipore area of south Kashmir. He was identified as Jehangir Ahmed Bhat alias Chhota Jehangir S/o Ghulam Mohammad Bhat R/o Halmulla (Sangham) Bijbehara.

Mar 19: Four Lashkar-e-Toiba militants including a district commander were killed and three troopers including a JCO critically injured in a gun battle at Gandoh Doda .The slain militants have been identified as Imtiyaz Ahmed alias Abudarah, the District Commander of LeT, Abu Sageer of Pakistan, Mehnawaz and Sadam..Meanwhile a powerful blast ripped through Srinagar’s lone flyover killing one person and wounding at least 21 others. The deceased has been identified as Abdul Hamid son of Ali Muhammad of Loolipora Chadoora

Mar 20: The security forces in Kashmir valley killed a top commander of Hizbul Mujahideen. The-slain militant was later identified as Muneer Ahmed Lali, self-styled battalion commander of HM
Mar 21: Two minors were killed in a grenade blast at Gawari area of Gandoh tehsil in Doda district. The deceased were identified as Mohammad Afzal, 14, son of Abdul Karim and Akram Ashraf, 5, son of Mohammad Ashraf both residents of Gawari. Meanwhile, unidentified persons barged into the house of a middle-aged Gujjar, namely Majeed Piswal S/o Juma Piswal at Sherat Kulgam in Kupwara district, kidnapped him and later killed him by slitting his throat at a deserted place in the forest cover.

Mar 22: A civilian was kidnapped and gunned down by militants in Doda on March 21, Official sources said two militants struck at village Bakhna near Doda on March 21 and kidnapped a 23-year-old Gujjar boy Mohd Shaffi son of Lal Din from his house. They whisked away the body to an unknown location later; police recovered his bullet-riddled body on March 22 from a field about two kms away from his house.

Mar 23: Three policemen, a paramilitary CRPF trooper and a top militant commander were killed in a fierce gun battle at Kashi Mohalla in Telbal area, some 20 kilometers from Srinagar. and injuring four policemen. In the meantime, a stray bullet also hit driver of SSP, Bashir Ahmad (belt No: 2678/S) of Beerwah Budgam, killing him on the spot.

The slain policemen have been identified as constable Irshad Ahmed (belt No: 580/IRP 10th Bn) of Khan Sahib Budgam, constable Mohammed Kabir (belt No: 840/IRP 10th Bn) of Udhampur and CRPF trooper, Sham Singh, The slain militant has been identified as Lashker-e-Toiba’s Divisional Commander Abu Faisal.

Mar 24: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

Mar 25: An ‘area commander’ of Hizbul Mujahideen outfit was gunned down by police and Army in an encounter at village Moori, Gulabgarh in Mahore area of Reasi district. The militant has been identified as Bahar Din alias Zulfa son of Sikander Nag, a resident of Peda Dewal, Gulabgarh in Mahore area. Meanwhile, army claimed to have foiled second infiltration bid in Keran sector frontier district of Kupwara by killing one militant. Police has claimed to have killed an unidentified militant during an encounter in Gujjarpati Summler forest area of Bandipore district on March 25. According to a police communiqué, the slain militant belongs to Lashkar-e-Toiba.Meanwhile, in a case of mistaken identity, a soldier killed his colleague who was on guard at an army camp in Drass Kargil on March 25.The soldier took his colleague as a militant and opened fire. The deceased soldier has been identified as Naik Ramesh Kumar of 6th Infantry Division.

Mar 26: An Army jawan, posted with the city-based unit of the Signals Regiment in Jammu, allegedly committed suicide by shooting himself on duty .The soldier, identified as Signalman Manish Kumar, 23, resident of Haridwar Uttar Pradesh shot himself with his service rifle.

Mar 27: Police at different locations in Kashmir recovered two bodies including the body of a battalion commander of Hizbul Mujahideen. Police has claimed to recover a bullet-riddled body of battalion commander of Hizbul Mujahideen at village Rangil in Ganderbal area on March 26. According to a police communiqué, the deceased has been identified as Muhammad Gulab Khan son of Sayeed Khan of Wurpash. Meanwhile, police fished out a body from river Jhelum at Krishbal Safa Kadal on March 27 morning. The deceased has been identified as Muhammad Ashraf Bafandar son of Ghulam Muhammad of Boatman Colony, Bemina. Police        has registered a case.

Mar 28: A policeman namely constable Muhammad Iqbal (No.727) was injured when militants fired on a search party during a cordon at Bonesodal area of Handwara. In another incident, a soldier committed suicide by shooting himself with his service rifle at an army camp in Jammu on March 27. The deceased has been identified as Munesh Kumar. A police constable was injured in an encounter with the militants in Salota forest area of Doda district on March 27. The injured cop has been identified as Anil Kumar number 637/D.

Mar 29: Police said a person identified as Mehdi Bashir son of Bashir Ahmad Malik of Mumkak Sopur was fiddling with a hand grenade, which exploded, killing him on the spot. Police has registered a case.

Mar 30: Body of 40 year, Mehmood Teedwa of Thune Kangan who had reportedly gone missing, was discovered near power canal Panzin 2km from Kangan.His family members had lodged a missing report 2 days before in police station Kangan.Police has registered a case under FIR no.74/08 and started the investigations.

Mar 31: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.
KILLINGS IN THE MONTH OF MARCH

	DATE


	SOLDIERS
	MILITANTS
	CIVILIANS
	OTHERS

	Mar01
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Mar02
	-
	2
	-
	-

	Mar03
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Mar04
	1
	4
	2
	1(former Militant)

	Mar05
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Mar06
	-
	-
	3
	-

	Mar07
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Mar08
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Mar09
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Mar10
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Mar11
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Mar12
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Mar13
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Mar14
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Mar15
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Mar16
	2
	1
	-
	-

	Mar17
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Mar18
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Mar19
	-
	4
	1
	-

	Mar20
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Mar21
	-
	-
	4
	-

	Mar22
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Mar23
	4
	1
	-
	1(driver of SSP)

	Mar24
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Mar25
	1
	3
	-
	-

	Mar26
	1
	1
	-
	-

	Mar27
	1
	-
	1
	-

	Mar28
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Mar 29
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Mar 30
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Mar 31
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Total 
	10
	21
	14
	2

	                                                       In Total
	 47 Killings 


	Date
	Custodial and Extra judicial Killings
	Women killed
	Children Killed
	Alleged Disappearances

	2-3-2008
	-
	-
	-
	1

	4-3-2008
	-
	1
	-
	-

	6-3-2008
	-
	-
	2
	4

	9-3-2008
	-
	-
	-
	1

	12-3-2008
	-
	-
	-
	2

	15-3-2008
	-
	-
	-
	3

	17-3-2008
	-
	-
	-
	1

	21-3-2008
	-
	-
	2
	-

	Total
	0
	1
	4
	12
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WOMEN –CHILDREN KILLED








Mar 4: Jana (65) wife of Negroo got injured in a mysterious explosion that took place in the house of Abdul Hamid Nengroo son of Abdur Rashid of Reshinagri Shopian late March 4 evening. Sources said that the family members insisted to Police that someone threw a bomb into the room from outside which exploded. However, police have developed suspicion that someone in the house actually fiddled with a hand grenade, which went off.


Mar 6: Three members of a family, including two minor girls, were killed and five injured in a grenade blast in Jammu’s Reasi district Jammu on the night of March 6 night, police said on March 7. 


	The explosion occurred at the house of Mushtaq Ahmed, a Village Defence Committee member, in Suntop hamlet in Arnas block of Reasi district, Udhampur-Reasi range Deputy Inspector-General of Police Alok Puri said.


	He said police were investigating whether militants hurled the grenade or it was an accidental explosion.


	An elderly man and his two grand daughters were killed and five other members of the family were injured in the blast, police officials said.


	A police team had been rushed to spot and were taking the injured to hospital, Puri said.	The dead were identified as Habibullah (76), Nazia (9), and Nagina (14).  


 Mar 21: Two minors were killed in a grenade blast at Gawari area of Gandoh tehsil in Doda district. Police reports said that some unidentified militants lobbed a grenade near a house at Gawari village resulting in the death of two boys who were playing near their house.


               The deceased were identified as Mohammad Afzal (14), son of Abdul Karim and Akram Ashraf (5), son of Mohammad Ashraf both residents of Gawari. 


Another report, however, said that the boys while playing near their house noticed a grenade lying in the area. They started fiddling with it after which it exploded resulting in death of two boys and injuries to two others. 








6-MONTH OLD IN CUSTODY FOR ‘POSSESSING’ AMMUNITION





 Mar 5: Six passengers including a six-month-old baby and three children are under police detention for past five days after police claimed to have recovered ammunition from a Sumo in Doda, Poonch during searching of the vehicle. 


 	Local news agency said five days ago police said it seized some ammunition from the Sumo. In this connection police arrested the driver of the sumo and five passengers for investigation. The passengers include Abdul Kabir of Kishtiwar, Rubeena Bano wife of Muhammad Yousf, six-month-old girl baby, one and a half year old girl and three year old daughter of Kabir. The baby and the children have fallen ill in the custody, the agency said.





March 18: The police authorities attached SHO Khanyar, Nisar Ahmad Bakshi, for allegedly beating a doctor to pulp in the city a few days ago. The officer has been attached with SP North and an inquiry has been initiated against him, police sources told media





TORTURE TESTIMONIES





REPORTED DISAPPEARANCES
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SUICIDES & FRATRICIDAL KILLINGS BY TROOPS





CHRONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS





ARMY REJECTED CLAIMS THAT THE GRAVES CONTAINED BODIES OF  ANYONE BESIDES REBELS: A.K.MATHUR


March 29:The army, according to AFP, rejected claims that the graves contained bodies of anyone besides rebels. “Those who have been buried in these villages were killed in well established encounters over the past two decades,” it quoted army spokesman Anil Kumar Mathur as saying. "Some were killed along the Line of Control and their bodies brought to these villages as they are closer to the border,” he said.


 	SM SAHAI DISMISSED INVESTIGATION DEMAND


March 29:The inspector general of police in the Kashmir valley, SM Sahai, has dismissed the demand, saying the police have investigated all cases of disappearances reported to it and have registered cases for investigation wherever necessary. 


The APDP says more than 8,000 people have disappeared in Kashmir in the past two decades. 


The government has given conflicting figures, ranging from 3,700 to 111.





LET THEM IDENTIFY SUCH MASS GRAVES WE WOULD INITIATE INVESTIGATIONS: S.M.SAHAI


March 31:On the recently released report ‘Facts Underground’ of Association of Parents of Disappeared Persons (APDP) which revealed that around 940 to 1000 mass graves were found in Uri area, Sahai said, “Police does not react to unverified claims.”�“Let them identify such graves, we would initiate investigations,” he said.Sahai said that besides locals there was a presence of a large number of foreign mercenaries in the state. “But the foreign militants are not going to dominate the entire scene,” Sahai said.


March 31:On being asked about the reports of 1000 unidentified graves being found in Baramulla, Sahai said,” It is not possible to react to something vague like this”.








  20 KASHMIRI ARTISANS ARRESTED IN TAMIL NADU


March 16: At least 20 Kashmiris were beaten ruthlessly and an equal number arrested by Chennai Police in south Indian state of Tamil Nadu.A local news report said that a few days ago a local tea stall owner had a verbal exchange with some Kashmiri artisans near Mount Road in Chennai. The following March 15 night police accompanied with some local goons attacked the Kashmiris local news agency said. The report said that they tied up their hands and dragged them. The reports further said that the Kashmiri workers were stabbed with sharp edged weapons. Some of the Kashmiris were injured critically. It said that one of the Kashmiri artisans received around 15 stitches.


Among the 20 injured in the incident, eight are said to be critically wounded.


	After the incident, around 20 Kashmiri traders went to the local Thousand Light Police Station to lodge a complaint.


Instead of filing the complaint, police is said to have arrested them and locked them up after declaring them as Afghans.


The police action has triggered fear among Kashmiri traders currently working and staying in Tamil Nadu.


“I have taken up the matter with the Chennai Police. They have confirmed the arrests of 10 persons” the KNS quoted Director General of Police, Kuldeep Khoda as saying. He said that among the 10 arrested, 6 are Kashmiris.








STUDENTS HARASSED IN KATRA VARSITY


March 20: The students of Mata Vaishno Devi University Katra have alleged harassment and highhandedness by the students of other states studying in the varsity.


 A group of students told media over phone that they were being victimized by the students from UP and Bihar. “The students, particularly of Muslim community, are living in fear here. We are being labeled as terrorists and Pakistani agents,” they said.


 They said many students have quitted the varsity. “We are being asked to leave the university or face the wrath,” a student said.


 ‘Few days back many students barged into the hostel rooms and thrashed many Muslim boys without any provocation,” the students added. The vice chancellor of the University could not be contacted despite repeated attempt.
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